Wiltshire Council

~—"->~. Where everybody matters

AGENDA

Meeting:  Western Area Planning Committee

Place: Council Chamber - Council Offices, Bradley Road, Trowbridge, BA14 ORD
Date: Wednesday 22 August 2012
Time: 6.00 pm

Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Marie Gondlach (Democratic Services
Officer), of Democratic Services, County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, direct line
01225 713597 or email marie.gondlach@uwiltshire.gov.uk

Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines (01225) 713114/713115.

This Agenda and all the documents referred to within it are available on the Council’s
website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk

Membership:
CliIr Trevor Carbin Clir Christopher Newbury
Clir Ernie Clark Clir Stephen Petty
Clir Rod Eaton CliIr Pip Ridout
Clir Peter Fuller (Chairman) Clir Jonathon Seed
Clir Mark Griffiths Clir Roy While (Vice Chairman)

Clir John Knight

Substitutes:
Cllir Rosemary Brown Cllr Tom James MBE
Clir Andrew Davis CliIr Francis Morland
ClIr Russell Hawker CliIr Jeff Osborn
Clir Malcolm Hewson CliIr Fleur de Rhe-Philipe

CliIr Keith Humphries




AGENDA

Part |

Items to be considered when the meeting is open to the public

Apologies for Absence
Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 1 - 16)

To approve the minutes of the last meeting held on 01 August 2012 (copy
attached.)

Chairman's Announcements
Declarations of Interest

To receive any declarations of non pecuniary or pecuniary interests or
dispensations granted by the Standards Committee.

Public Participation and Councillors' Questions

The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public.
Statements

Members of the public who wish to speak either in favour or against an
application or any other item on this agenda are asked to register in person no
later than 5.50pm on the day of the meeting.

The Chairman will allow up to 3 speakers in favour and up to 3 speakers against
an application and up to 3 speakers on any other item on this agenda. Each
speaker will be given up to 3 minutes and invited to speak immediately prior to
the item being considered. The rules on public participation in respect of
planning applications are detailed in the Council’s Planning Code of Good
Practice.

Questions

To receive any questions from members of the public or members of the Council
received in accordance with the constitution which excludes, in particular,
questions on non-determined planning applications. Those wishing to ask
questions are required to give notice of any such questions in writing to the
officer named on the front of this agenda no later than 5pm on Wednesday 15
August 2012.Please contact the officer named on the front of this agenda for
further advice. Questions may be asked without notice if the Chairman decides
that the matter is urgent.

Details of any questions received will be circulated to Committee members prior
to the meeting and made available at the meeting and on the Council's website.



Planning Applications (Pages 17 - 18)
To consider and determine the following planning applications:

6a W/11/03178/FUL - Land Rear Of 69 Woolley Street, Bradford On
Avon, Wiltshire (Pages 19 - 50)

6b W/12/01303/FUL - Church Farm, Winsley Bypass, Winsley,
Wiltshire, BA15 2JH (Pages 51 - 58)

6¢c W/12/01107/FUL - Jasmin House, 115A Hilperton Road,
Trowbridge, Wiltshire, BA14 7JJ (Pages 59 - 68)

Urgent Items

Any other items of business which, in the opinion of the Chairman, should be
taken as a matter of urgency

Part i

Item during whose consideration it is recommended that the public should be excluded
because of the likelihood that exempt information would be disclosed

None.



This page is intentionally left blank



Wiltsiiiie Council

~—"-~_ Where everybody matters

WESTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE

DRAFT MINUTES OF THE WESTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING
HELD ON 1 AUGUST 2012 IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBER - COUNCIL OFFICES,
BRADLEY ROAD, TROWBRIDGE, BA14 ORD.

Present:

Clir Trevor Carbin, Clir Ernie Clark, Clir Rod Eaton, Clir Mark Giriffiths, Clir John Knight,
Clir Christopher Newbury, Clir Stephen Petty, Clir Pip Ridout, ClIir Jonathon Seed and
Clir Roy While (Vice-Chair, in the Chair)

Also Present:

Clir Rosemary Brown, ClIr Francis Morland and ClIr Fleur de Rhe-Philipe

63  Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence were received from CliIr Peter Fuller.

64 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
The minutes of the meeting held on 11 July 2012 were presented.
Resolved:

To approve as a correct record and sign the minutes of the meeting held
on 11 July 2012.

65 Chairman's Announcements
There were no Chairman’s Announcements.

The Chairman gave details of the exits to be used in the event of an
emergency.

66 Declarations of Interest

W/11/01132/FUL - Land At Grange Farm, Bratton Road, West Ashton,
Wiltshire

Clir Jonathon Seed declared that he knew both the applicant and objectors for
this application, but gave his assurance that he would consider the application
with an open mind.

Page 1



67

68

69

W/12/00596/S73 - Upper Poles Hole, Southwick, Wiltshire
Clir Jonathon Seed declared that he knew the applicant for this application, but
gave his assurance that he would consider the application with an open mind.

Public Participation and Councillors' Questions
The Chairman welcomed all present.

No questions had been received from members of the public but a question had
been received from ClIr Ernie Clark, which was circulated at the meeting and is
attached, with the answer given, to these minutes.

Clir Clark asked a supplementary question regarding the accuracy of the first
paragraph of the second bullet point in the response and it was agreed that this
would be answered outside of the meeting.

The Chairman then explained the rules of public participation and the procedure
to be followed at the meeting.

W/12/01033/FUL - 486 Semington Road, Melksham, Wiltshire, SN12 6DR

The Chairman explained that the applicant had withdrawn this application which
would therefore not be considered by the Western Area Planning Committee.
The order of the agenda would be amended to reflect this.

Planning Applications
The Committee considered the following applications:

69.a W/12/00975/FUL - The Corsley Centre at The Old School, Deep Lane,
Corsley, Warminster, Wiltshire

- Ms Jennifer Gale spoke in objection to the application

- Mr Guy Marson, Headteacher for the Steiner Academy School, spoke in
support of the application.

- A statement from Ms Marion Liquorice in support of the application was
read out.

The Area Development Manager introduced the report which recommended
approval and listed the planning policies to be considered, he also pointed out
that the National Planning Policy Framework encouraged support for new
schools.

Members of the public then had the opportunity to speak as detailed above.

Clir Fleur de Rhé-Philipe, Unitary Councillor for Warminster Without, expressed
her relief at seeing that her original concerns had been addressed by the

Page 2



applicant after consultation with Wiltshire Council, and therefore could not see
any planning reasons to refuse this temporary application.

During the ensuing debate it was clarified that the number of mobile classrooms
stated in the report was accurate, that the number of parking spaces was
deemed appropriate and that the school had little control over the date by which
it must be open.

Resolved:
That planning permission be GRANTED.
For the following reason(s):

The proposed development is supported by both the policies of the West
Wiltshire District Plan (CF1) and the National Planning Policy Framework.
As the proposal is for a temporary use only, it is considered that the
limited envisaged impacts on both the highway network and the setting of
the listed building will be short-term in duration and are consequently
acceptable for this limited period.

Subject to the following condition(s):

1. When the site ceases to be occupied by The Steiner School; or by the end of
September 2014, whichever shall first occur, the use hereby permitted shall
cease and the temporary buildings brought on to the premises by the applicants
in connection with the use shall be removed.

REASON: The permission has been sought for a temporary period only and the
envisaged limited impacts are acceptable for this limited time period. Granting
permission for this temporary proposal accords with the guidance issued by the
Government in relation to supporting new schools.

2. The proposed fencing shall be powder coated black.

REASON: To protect the setting of the listed building.

3. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details
contained within the Steiner Academy Travel Plan for the site and the
monitoring and review procedures contained therein shall be adhered to in
accordance with the timings contained within the Plan.

REASON: In the interests of road safety.

4. This permission relates to the following plans: J8/04020; AL(00)01 D; AL(00)
02B; 03B; 04B; 05B; 06C; 07C; 08F; 09C; 10C; 11C; 12; 13.

REASON: To define the approved plans.

Page 3



69.b W/11/03178/FUL - Land Rear Of 69 Woolley Street, Bradford On
Avon, Wiltshire

- Mr Gordon Duncan spoke in objection to the application.

- Mr Ted King, representing the Friends of Woolley, spoke in objection to the
application.

- Mr Phil Rimmer spoke in objection to the application.

- Mr Gary Llewellyn, planning consultant, spoke in support of the application.

- Mrs Gwen Allison, Bradford on Avon Town Councillor, spoke in objection to
the application.

The Area Development Manager introduced the report which recommended

approval and pointed out that the following had been received since the

publication of the agenda:

o A petition with 142 signatures objecting to the application;

e Late representations from the Friends of Woolley regarding the impact on
trees;

e Late representations from a local resident regarding the impact on
amenities;

e Late representations expressing the view that holding a planning meeting
during the holiday period was inconsiderate.

In response to technical questions asked the following was clarified; the
footpath to access the allotment was privately owned and not a Public Right of
Way.

Private rights may exist, but these were not a planning matter. and it may be
unavoidable for the footpath to be unavailable during certain stages of the
development, future occupiers of the houses would be expected to fund the
private management company responsible for of the green spaces, 14 parking
spaces would be available in total.

Members of the public then had the opportunity to speak as detailed above.

Clir Rosemary Brown, Unitary Councillor for Bradford on Avon North, spoke in
objection to the application and urged members of the committee to consider a
site visit.

During the ensuing debate Councillors raised issues about the status of the
orchard and the status of the Woolley Plan, and considered that a site visit was
necessary before being able to determine this application, it was therefore

Resolved:
To defer the application until:
1. A site visit had taken place;

2. Clarification of whether the orchard was a county wildlife site
had been obtained;

Page 4



3. Clarification about the status of the Woolley Plan as a
material consideration had been established.

69.c W/11/01132/FUL - Land At Grange Farm, Bratton Road, West
Ashton, Wiltshire

- Mr Hugh Hancock spoke in objection to the application.
- Mr Peter Westlake, West Ashton Parish Councillor, spoke in objection to
the application.

The Area Development Manager introduced the report which recommended
approval.

Members of the public then had the opportunity to speak as detailed above.

Clir Francis Morland, Unitary Councillor for Southwick, explained his reasons for
calling in the application and expressed his concerns.

During the ensuing debate the following was clarified; there was only one
application (for the formation of a lake and erection of four workshops) as it was
a single holding seeking diversification, an application for change of use would
have to be submitted for the workshops to be used for anything else other than
B1 uses.

Resolved:
That planning permission be GRANTED.
For the following reason(s):

The proposed development conforms to the Development Plan and there
are no objections to it on planning grounds.

Subject to the following condition(s):

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of
three years from the date of this permission.

REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004.

2 No development shall commence on site until details and samples of the
materials to be used for the external walls and roofs have been submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Page 5



REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and the character and
appearance of the area.

West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration 2004 - POLICY: C1, C2 and
C31a.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting
or amending that Order with or without modification), the workshop
buildings permitted in terms of this application shall be used solely for
purposes within Class B1 of the Schedule to the Town and Country
Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended by the Town and
Country Planning (Use Classes) (Amendment)(England) Order 2005 (or in
any provisions equivalent to that class in any statutory instrument revoking
or re-enacting that Order with or without modification).

REASON: The proposed use is acceptable but the Local Planning
Authority wish to consider any future proposal for a change of use, other
than a use within the same classes, having regard to the circumstances of
the case.

West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration 2004 : POLICY C1 & C38

No external lighting shall be installed on site until plans showing the type of
light appliance, the height and position of fitting, illumination levels and
light spillage have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The lighting approved shall be installed and shall be
maintained in accordance with the approved details.

REASON: In the interests of the amenities of the area and to minimise
unnecessary light spillage above and outside the development site.

West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration 2004 - POLICY: C1, C31a and
C32

No development shall commence untii a scheme of hard and soft
landscaping has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority, the details of which shall include:

(a) indications of all existing trees and hedgerows on the land;

(b) details of any to be retained, which shall include the roadside hedge
alongside the Bratton Road within the site proposed for the lake, together
with measures for their protection in the course of development;

(c) a planting scheme for the lake and surrounds to include details of all
species, planting sizes and planting densities;

(d) site levels and contours, including the area surrounding the lake and
the location of any bunding in relation to the existing roadside hedge, and
finished floor levels to the workshop buildings in relation to ground levels;

Page 6



(e) means of enclosure;

(f) car park layouts and details of the bollards to be placed at the northern
end of the workshop access;

(g) other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas;

(h) hard surfacing materials.

REASON: To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the
development and the protection of existing important landscape features.

West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration 2004 - POLICY: C1, C31a and
C32

All soft landscaping comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall
be carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the first
implementation of the development hereby permitted; Any trees or plants
which, within a period of five years, die, are removed, or become seriously
damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with
others of a similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by
the local planning authority. All hard landscaping shall also be carried out
in accordance with the approved details prior to the occupation of any part
of the development or in accordance with a programme to be agreed in
writing with the Local Planning Authority.

REASON: To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the
development and the protection of existing important landscape features.

POLICY: C31a and C32West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration 2004 -
POLICY: C1, C31a and C32

No development shall commence until:

a) A written programme of archaeological investigation, which should
include on-site work and off-site work such as the analysis, publishing and
archiving of the results, has been submitted to and approved by the Local
Planning Authority; and

b) The approved programme of archaeological work has been carried out
in accordance with the approved details.

REASON: To enable the recording of any matters of archaeological
interest.

No materials for the construction of any landscaping features including
new mounding or the proposed bund shall be imported to the site unless a
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The Management Plan shall include details of
implementation and monitoring and shall be implemented in accordance
with these agreed details.

Page 7



10

11

12

13

REASON: In the interests of local amenity, road safety and managing
vehicular traffic to the development.

West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration, 2004 : Policies C1, C31a and
TO4, Transport Aims

Any gates shall be set back 4.5 metres from the edge of the carriageway,
such gates to open inwards only.

REASON: In the interests of highway safety.
West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration 2004 - POLICY: C31a

No part of the development hereby permitted shall befirst be brought into
use until the access, turning area and parking spaces have been
completed in accordance with the details shown on the approved plans.
The areas shall be maintained for those purposes at all times thereafter.

REASON: In the interests of highway safety.
West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration 2004 - POLICY: C31a

No development of the recreational lake site hereby permitted shall
commence on site until visibility splays have been provided between the
edge of the carriageway and a line extending from a point 2.4 metres back
from the edge of the carriageway, measured along the centre line of the
access, to the points on the edge of the carriageway 120 metres to the
west and 160 metres to theeast from the centre of the access in
accordance with the approved plans. Such splays shall thereafter be
permanently maintained free from obstruction to vision above a height
0.9m above the level of the adjacent carriageway.

REASON: In the interests of highway safety.

West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration 2004 - POLICY: C31a

The recreational lake hereby permitted shall not be first brought into use
until the first five metres of the access, measured from the edge of the
carriageway, has been consolidated and surfaced (not loose stone or
gravel). The access shall be maintained as such thereafter.

REASON: In the interests of highway safety.

West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration 2004 - POLICY: C31a

The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in
complete accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans:

Page 8



10/10/1/1 A received on 29 March 2011

10/10/1/2 (Revised) received on 25 May 2012

10/10/1/3 (Revised) received on 25 May 2012

Location Plan - Overall Farm Ownership received on 29 March 2011
10/10/1/5 received on 25 May 2012

10/10/1/6 received on 29 March 2011

10/10/1/7 received on 29 March 2011

10/10/1/8 received on 29 March 2011

REASON: to ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with
the approved plans that have been judged to be acceptable by the local
planning authority

Informative(s):

1 The applicant is advised to contact the Environment Agency with regard to
licensing relation to fish stocking and water abstraction.

2 The work in relation to Condition 7 should be conducted by a professional
recognised archaeological contractor and there will be a financial
implication for the applicant.

3 The applicant is advised that the landscaping plan shall include the
retention of the hedge to the Bratton Road boundary to the fishing lake site
and, in the event that any portion of hedge requires re-alignment to
accommodate vehicle access visibility splays, details of a programme for
replacement.

69.d W/12/00596/S73 - Upper Poles Hole, Southwick, Trowbridge,
Wiltshire

- Mr Tony Doel, applicant, spoke in support of the application.

- Mr Mark Willis, agent, spoke in support of the application.

- Mr Ted Pomeroy, Southwick Parish Councillor, spoke in support of the
application.

The Area Development Manager introduced the report which recommended
refusal of the removal of condition 2 (holiday use) of planning permission
W/04/01008/FUL dated 16/07/04.

Members of the public then had the opportunity to speak as detailed above.

Clir Francis Morland, Unitary Councillor for Southwick, read out his reasons for
calling in the application as they had been summarised in the report. ClIr
Morland spoke in support of the application but invited members of the
committee to review the original conditions for the application should they be
minded to remove condition 2.

Page 9



70

During the ensuing debate members of the committee deplored the lack of
evidence to support the applicant’s claim that there was no demand for that type
of holiday let, however most members felt that there may be more demand for
this type of accommodation as a permanent dwelling and that it would be better
to have the building in use than lying vacant.

Resolved:

To remove condition 2 (holiday use) of planning permission
W/04/01008/FUL dated 16/07/04.

For the following reason(s):

There is inadequate demand for holiday accommodation of the nature
presented by these two small properties in this location, and the removal
of the condition will prevent the properties from remaining vacant whilst
helping meet local housing needs for small single bedroom dwellings.

Subject to the following condition(s):

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order 1995, or any Order revoking and re-enacting
that Order with or without modification, no development failing within Schedule
2, Part 1 Classes A-C of the Order, shall be carried out to either property
without the express planning permission of the Local Planning Authority.

REASON: In order to protect the amenity of the occupiers of these properties
and to control the extension of the dwellings that could lead to family occupation
on a site that is remote from services and a safe pedestrian access to the
nearest settlement of Southwick.

Urgent Items

There were no Urgent Items.

(Duration of meeting: 6.00 - 9.00 pm)

The Officer who has produced these minutes is Marie Gondlach (Democratic

Services Officer), of Democratic Services, direct line 01225 713597, e-mail
marie.gondlach@wiltshire.gov.uk

Press enquiries to Communications, direct line (01225) 713114/713115

Page 10



Minute ltem 67

Wiltshire Council
Western Area Planning Committee

01 August 2012

Question from Councillor Ernie Clark
(Hilperton Division)
Public Participation — item 5

Question

Could | please be reminded of the principles by which planning applications are
referred to the Strategic Planning Committee rather than an Area Planning
Committee?

Response

Strategic Planning Committee
Role and Functions

The committee will exercise the following functions:
To make strategic planning decisions as follows:

* The implications of major developments outside of Wiltshire that could have an
impact on local residents.

* To consider the following categories of applications for planning permission:

- Large-scale major developments (defined by the Department for Communities
and Local Government as those of 200 houses or more or 10,000 square
metres of non-residential floor space) which, by their nature, (e.g. scale,
location etc.) have wider strategic implications and raise issues of more than
local importance

- Planning applications for mineral extraction or waste disposal, other than
small scale works which are ancillary to an existing mineral working or waste
disposal facility

- Significant applications by Wiltshire Council to develop any land of Wiltshire
Council, or for development of any land by Wiltshire Council or by Wiltshire
Council jointly with any other person (Regulation 3 applications)

- Applications which, if approved, would represent a significant departure from

the policies of the statutory development plan, where they are recommended
for approval

Page 11



- Applications called in by a division-member that cross the boundary of two
area committees

- Any application where the director of the development service considers it
inappropriate to exercise delegated powers having regard to the public
representations received and consultee responses

- Consider documents relating to the Local Development Framework and
advise Cabinet where appropriate

There shall be no referral up of applications to the Strategic Planning Committee
from the area planning committees.

Area planning committees
Role and Functions

To consider applications not within the remit of the Strategic Planning Committee
and not delegated to officers except where the director of the development service
considers it inappropriate to exercise delegated powers having considered public
representations and consultee responses.

To consider matters of local importance within the area such as:

» the designation and amendment of conservation areas

» village design statements and parish plans where Council approval is required for
them to be considered as material considerations in dealing with planning
applications

» consideration of planning applications called to an area committee by division
members, with the exception of those that fail to be determined by the Strategic
Planning Committee

* registration of common land for town and village greens

» variation of rights of common

* determination of applications under the Explosives Act 1875

» public rights of way, including modification of the definitive map and the regulation
of the use of the highway.

There shall be no referral up of applications from the area planning committees to
the Strategic Planning Committee.

PRggel 2



Part 3C

Scheme of Delegation Specific to Planning

1. The Director of Development (and any officers designated by that officer) is
authorized to: -

determine any planning application and discharge conditions under delegated
powers (including tree/hedgerow work applications);

deal with all enforcement matters (including deciding on the expediency of
taking/not taking action and issuing enforcement notices, including listed
building enforcement and urgent works notices and taking any further action,
including prosecution and direct action in respect of any breach of control);

deal with all types of appeal and their format;

where an appeal has been lodged against a planning decision and Counsel
advises that specific refusal reasons are unreasonable and/or likely to
undermine or weaken the council’'s case and time constraints prevent the
matter being brought back to committee, officers, in consultation with the
committee Chairman and Local Division Member are authorised to inform the
appellant and the Planning Inspectorate that the council will not seek to defend
such reason(s) at appeal, provided any such action does not overturn the
substantive decision of the Planning Committee;

make and confirm Tree Preservation Orders; Tree Replacement Notices and
serve notices requiring action in relation to dangerous trees, and to initiate any
associated direct action required to deal with dangerous trees; deciding
whether to prosecute for breaches of the Planning Acts in refation to tree and
hedgerow matters;

determining any applications made under the High Hedges provisions of the
anti-social behaviour legislation; including any necessary enforcement action;

deal with decisions, correspondence and consultations under relevant local
government, social, planning, listed building, conservation, building and
environmental and other legislation. This includes proposals to change
legislation or national guidance and consultation by other planning authorities;

determine the requirements for, and amend when necessary the local
validation list for planning applications;

make and confirm Article 4 directions restricting or removing permitted
development rights;

nominate officers to represent the council on forums and working parties;

authorise officers to enter land and buildings in the course of their duties in
accordance with the provisions of the Town & Country Planning Acts;

enter into, modify or discharge planning or legal agreements securing controls
over development (e.g. Section 106 of the Town & Country Planning Act
1990);

31

Part 3C



e make changes to conditions approved at committee (in the light of changing
circumstances between the meeting and the issue of the decision) provided
this is in line with the principles of the committee’s decision. Any such
changes will be reported back to a subsequent committee for member’s
information;

e annually recommend to the budget process all planning fees and charges

o refuse applications following a resolution to grant permission or consent if the
required legal agreements are not completed by the applicant within the
timeframe set out in the officer's report and present an information report for
acceptance by the relevant Planning Committee on a quarterly basis ;

e institute and defend judicial reviews and statutory challenges in consultation
with the head of legal services.

o Make and serve Building Preservation Notices.
With the following exceptions:

1.1 Applications submitted by Wiltshire Council will not be dealt with under
delegated powers where an objection has been received raising material
planning considerations.

1.2 Reference to Committee by Wiltshire Council Division Member

Division Members can request in writing/email that a planning application
within their Division proceed to determination by way of an area committee.
(Any request must be received within 21 days of the circulation of the weekly
list of ‘applications received’ in which it appears, and set out the material
planning consideration(s) which warrant the application going before
committee). Officers will confirm what action is being taken following receipt of
the request.

Where it has not been possibie or appropriate to call an application in within
this time, officers will accept call in requests in the following circumstances: -

1. An application has not been determined and it can still go to committee
and be determined within the target date.

2. The application is already going to go out of time (because of
negotiations/amended plans etc.) and taking it to committee will make no
difference to performance.

Where neither of the above apply, and the Division Member thinks there is a
strong case to delay the determination of the application and take it to
committee, they can discuss the case with the relevant Area Development
Manager who will then make an informed decision whether or not to exercise
delegated powers.

a. ltis perfectly acceptable for councillors to nominate a substitute(s) to
undertake their planning responsibilities, including application ‘call in’, if
they have a conflict of interest or during periods of absence such as
holidays or illness. 32

Part 3C
12 July 2011 PngeI4



b. Applications for tree work, prior approvals, Certificates of Lawfulness;
notifications and variations/discharge of legal agreements - where the
latter would bring them in line with a planning decision already made by
the council, will not be eligible for call-in and will be dealt with under
delegated powers.

c. |If private applications are made by an elected member or a senior officer
of the council or their close relations, or by a planning officer and
objections are received raising material planning considerations the
application will be determined by committee.

There will be occasions where it would be possible to deal with certain
applications under delegated powers but where the Director of Development
considers it inappropriate to do so, having considered any public
representation and consultee responses. In these cases the applications will
be determined by an appropriate planning committee.

1.3 The following applications shall be dealt with by the Strategic Planning
Committee:

e Large-scale major developments which, by their nature (e.g. scale,
location etc.) have wider strategic implications and raise issues of more
than local importance. This will include applications of a similar nature by
Wiltshire Council to develop any land of Wiltshire Council, or for
development of any land by Wiltshire Council or by Wiltshire Council jointly
with any other person which have similar implications or raise similar
issues.

e Planning applications for mineral extraction or waste disposal, other than
small scale works which are ancillary to an existing mineral working or
waste disposal facility;

e Applications, which if approved, would represent a significant departure
from the policies of the statutory development plan, where they are
recommended for approval;

e Applications called in by a Division Member that cross the boundary of two
area committees;

e Any application that the Director of Development deems raises issues that
should be considered by the Strategic Planning Committee.

Definitions

Planning application means any application submitted to the council for determination
and included within the Governments’ PS1 and PS2 returns. (This is a statistical
questionnaire dealing with performance which local authorities have to submit
regularly to the government and which divides planning application into distinct
categories; householder, minor, major etc.)

33

Part 3C
12 July 2011 Page 55



‘Large scale major development' means any application for 200 or more houses;
residential development of 4ha or more or other development of more than 10,000
square metres or more than 2 ha, as defined by the Government in the PS1/2 return.

Householder development and the other descriptions of development referred to
above shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the Government's PS1/2 return.

Enforcement notices includes all other formal notices under the Planning Acts used
to investigate and remedy alleged breaches of planning control or improve the
appearance of an area, including Breach of condition notices and Section 215
notices.

A private application is one which has no connection with a member or officer’s
council duties. For example, if an officer submitted a Regulation 3 application on
behalf of Wiltshire Council it would not be a private application.

A ‘senior officer’ will mean any Service Director, Corporate Director or the Chief
Executive.

A close relation is defined as spouse, partner, sibling, parent or offspring.

34

Part 3C
12 July 2011 PRgge! 6



WESTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE

22 August 2012

Planning Applications for Determination

I~

Item | Application No. | Site address Proposal Unitary Unitary Parish Recommendation
No. Councillor Division
6.a | W/11/03178/FUL | Land Rear Of 69 Demolition of Hill Leigh | Clir Rosemary | Bradford On Bradford On | Approval
Woolley Street and erection of 7 no. Brown Avon North Avon
Bradford On Avon three bedroom
Wiltshire dwellings and
associated works
6.b | W/12/01303/FUL | Church Farm Partially retrospective CliIr Linda Winsley And Winsley Approval
Winsley Bypass application for Conley Westwood
U Winsley Wiltshire installation of 104
g BA15 2JH panel ground mounted
o solar array
1 6.c W/12/01107/FUL | Jasmin House 115A | Proposed extension Clir Ernie Hilperton Hilperton Approval
~N Hilperton Road and change of use of Clark

Trowbridge Wiltshire
BA14 7JJ

existing garage to
residential bungalow

9 wajl| epusby



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 18



Agenda ltem 6a

REPORT TO THE WESTERN AREA PLANNING

COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting 22.08.2012

Application Number | W/11/03178/FUL

Site Address Land Rear Of 69 Woolley Street Bradford On Avon Wiltshire

Proposal Demolition of Hill Leigh and erection of 7 no. three bedroom dwellings
and associated works

Applicant Beswick Homes Ltd

Town/Parish Council | Bradford On Avon

Electoral Division Bradford On Avon North | Unitary Member: | Rosemary Brown

Grid Ref 383304 161332

Type of application | Full Plan

Case Officer Mr Kenny Green 01225 770344 Ext 01225 770251
kenny.green@uwiltshire.gov.uk

Background

Members will recall that this application was deferred at the last meeting of the committee on 1st
August. The purpose of the deferral was:

1) For members to undertake a site visit;

2) To seek clarification of the status of "The Plan for Wolley 2026' as a material consideration in the
application;

3) To clarify whether the site is a County Wildlife Site.

The site visit will take place before the meeting on August 22nd.
Status of ‘The Plan for Woolley 2026

The Plan for Woolley 2026 is a document prepared by the Friends for Woolley, a volunteer run local
community organisation. It has been formally adopted by the Executive of Friends of Woolley and has
been endorsed by Bradford on Avon Town Council.

However, whilst it represents the aspirations of the community organisation, it does not form part of
the development plan framework that local authorities must make decisions in accordance with unless
material considerations indicate otherwise.

For a development of this scale and nature, the development plan framework is set by the West
Wiltshire District Plan and the emerging Core Strategy. Under the Localism Act, neighbourhood plans
will in the future become part of the development plan, but they will only be able to be taken forward
once the Core Strategy has been approved and adopted by the Council, which will not take place until
Spring 2013. Any neighbourhood plan will have to be prepared by Bradford on Avon Town Council.
The Plan for Woolley cannot therefore be afforded any weight as part of the development plan, but
may be considered as a material consideration as representing the views of a local community
organisation, in the same way that the Council takes into account the views of other organisations
such as CPRE and local residents when considering representations on planning applications.

County Wildlife Site.

The Council's Ecologist has confirmed that the site is not a County Wildlife Site.

Page 19



'I have checked with Rob Large, the Wildlife Sites Officer at Wiltshire Wildlife Trust who is responsible
for the notification of County Wildlife Sites and | can confirm that the site is not a County Wildlife Site.
Following the existing criteria for the notification of CWSs (that have been adopted and were in place
when the planning application was assessed in January 2012), the orchard does not meet the
requirements for a CWS. That it has appeared in the public domain as such is an error which is being
amended by the WSBRC, and the Spatial Planning team have been alerted to change the map in the
Wiltshire Core Strategy document.

As | described in my consultation response dated 25th January 2012, the site does contain priority
traditional orchard habitat. With the proposed mitigation, the retained habitat will still meet the
definition of traditional orchard BAP habitat (under the UK Habitat Action Plan ) and will still meet the
draft criteria for traditional orchard BAP habitat used by the Wiltshire Wildlife Trust. Through the
recommended conditions and legal agreement, the retained orchard habitat will be favourably
managed, monitored and protected in perpetuity.'

The report below has been amended since the publication of the last agenda to take account of the
representations received since it was published.

Reason for the application being considered by Committee
Councillor Rosemary Brown has requested that this item be determined by Committee due to:

Design - bulk, height, general appearance

Environmental/highway impacts

The proposal by reason of its design, density and layout would neither preserve nor enhance the
character or appearance of the conservation area.

The development would disrupt the character of Coronation Avenue and the surrounding area
contrary to policies H1, H24, C17 and C18 of the District Plan.

By reason of its restricted access and lack of visibility onto Coronation Avenue, together with poor
visibility at the intersection of the new access with the existing footpath, would be prejudicial to
highway safety and be contrary to H1 of the District Plan.

1.  Purpose of Report

To consider the above application and to recommend that planning permission be granted, subject to
conditions.

Neighbourhood Responses (includig the late representations received before the 1 August Committee
meeting)

1 petition with 142 signatories objecting to the development.
39 letters of objection received.

Parish/Town Council Response

Obijects for the reasons given within section 7.
2. Report Summary

The main issues to consider are:

Principle of Development

Does the scheme preserve or enhance the character of the Conservation Area?
Does the proposal detrimentally affect road safety interests?

Does the proposal detrimentally affect protected trees?

Does the proposal detrimentally affect protected species or their habitats?

Does the proposal detrimentally affect neighbouring amenities and privacy?
Legal Agreement / Developer Contributions / Legal Ties

Page 20



3.  Site Description

The application site lies within the Town Policy Limits of Bradford on Avon. The private orchard which
forms part of site is located within the Woolley Street Conservation Area, with its boundary coinciding
with the southwest and northwest boundaries of the site. The Hill Leigh residential property, which is
identified for demolition, is located outside the Conservation Area.

The surrounding area is characterised by clearly identifiable residential urban forms and layout
comprising locally distinctive stone built terraced houses and detached houses of complementary, but
of less homogenous form and period design.

The site is an irregular shape and forms two distinct parts. The applicant has identified the roughly
rectangular shaped orchard located behind No. 69 Woolley Street as well as the detached two-storey
residential property known as Hill Leigh, located on the eastern side of Coronation Avenue, as
forming the extent of the application site. In total, the site measures about 0.34 hectares.

A footpath separates residential properties and gardens located along Coronation Avenue and the
privately owned orchard. According to title deeds (Title No. WT236053), the footpath is within the
ownership and control of the applicant and it has been confirmed that it is not a designated public
right of way. It is not however disputed that this footpath is used as a means of accessing the
allotment gardens and play park located to the northwest of the application site. Residential gardens
associated to properties along Coronation Avenue and Woolley Street surround the site in a northern,
eastern and southern direction.

The trees along the northwest and northeast site boundary are covered by a Tree Preservation Order.
Within the orchard itself, there are several well established fruit trees in close proximity to each other.
For the record, it should be noted that the well established fruit trees within the orchard were
specifically omitted from a TPO which was confirmed by the former West Wiltshire Planning
Committee in August 2005. This continues to be the case. In addition to the well established 4 apple
trees, there are 2 smaller apple trees, 2 cherry and 2 pear trees, 6 plum trees as well as a hazel and
birch found on site.

4. Relevant Planning History

05/01304/FUL Demolition of Hill Leigh and erection of 14 no. 3 bed dwellings and associated parking
- Refused 05.12.2005

06/02441/FUL Demolition of Hill Leigh and erection of 9 no. 2, 3 and 4 bed dwellings and associated
parking - Refused 15.02.2007

08/02912/FUL Demolition of Hill Leigh and erection of 8 no. 2, 3 and 4 bed dwellings and associated
parking - Refused at Planning Committee on 30.01.2009 for the following reasons:

1. The proposal by reason of its overall design, density and layout would neither preserve nor
enhance the character or appearance of the conservation area contrary to Policies C17 & C18 of the
West Wiltshire District Plan - 1st Alteration 2004, and would, furthermore, disrupt the character of
Coronation Avenue and the surrounding area contrary to Policies H1 and H24 of the West Wiltshire
District Plan - 1st Alteration 2004.

2. The proposal by reason of the restricted access and lack of visibility onto Coronation Avenue,
together with the poor visibility at the intersection of the new access with the existing public footpath,
would be prejudicial to highway safety and result in conflict between vehicular traffic entering the site
and pedestrians using the public footpath contrary to Policy H1 of the West Wiltshire District Plan - 1st
Alteration 2004.

09/03523/FUL - Erection of 5 no. 2 bed terraced and semi-detached cottages and associated works -
Withdrawn 04.01.2010.

w/10/00259/FUL - Demolition of Hillleigh and erection of eight 2 bedroom dwellings and associated
parking - Refused under delegated powers on 24.01.2010 for the following reasons:

Page 21



1 The development would detrimentally affect a traditional orchard and result in the loss of BAP
(Biodiversity Action Plan) Habitat. The applicant has failed to fully demonstrate the ecological impacts
of the development. The applicant has failed to submit any detailed surveys of invertebrates and
lower plants for the site. Without this information, the full biodiversity value of the site is unclear which
is contrary to Government Guidance contained within PPS9 and to adopted West Wiltshire District
Plan - 1st Alteration Policies H1 and C6 as well as conflicting with section 12 of adopted
Supplementary planning Document (SPD) "Residential Design Guide". The Council is also unable to
fully assess whether the mitigation proposals would adequately compensate for impacts to the BAP
habitat in terms of habitat area, number of trees, diversity of tree ages, range of tree species and
varieties and whether the site can be managed to achieve no net loss of biodiversity in the short term
and net gain in the long term. The lack of a robust ecological assessment prevents the Council being
able to make a full and proper determination in terms of protecting and conserving BAP Habitat.

2 Inadequate and inappropriate information has been submitted in terms of landscaping the site.
The applicant has failed to submit a robust achievable landscape scheme and has not fully
demonstrated how the remaining communal / public open space would be managed and maintained
contrary to Government Guidance contained within PPS5 Policies HE7.4-7.5 and PPS9 and to
adopted West Wiltshire District Plan - 1st Alteration Policies H1, C31a and C32. The landscaping
inadequacies also run contrary to paragraphs 3.7 and 3.8 of the adopted Council Supplementary
Planning document (SPD) "Residential Design Guide".

3 The proposed development by virtue of the inadequate landscape scheme would not sustain or
enhance the significance of the recognised heritage asset. Without a satisfactory landscaping
scheme, the proposal would not make a positive contribution to the character and local distinctiveness
of the protected historic environment. The proposals run contrary to Government Guidance contained
within PPS5 policies HE7.4 and HE7.5 as well as to adopted Wiltshire and Swindon Structure Plan
Policy HE7 and to West Wiltshire District Plan Policies C18 and C31a.

4 The proposed ground floor window shown on the eastern gable elevation of the residential unit
on plot 5 (drawing no's CA/P/005 and CA/P/006) would likely cause nuisance to the occupiers of
neighbouring properties, specifically to No. 69 Woolley Street through the invasion of privacy and loss
of amenity, which runs contrary to adopted West Wiltshire District Plan Policies H1 and C38.

5. Proposal

Under this application, the applicant seeks to obtain full planning permission to erect 7 no. 3-bed
dwellings following the demolition of the two storey detached property known as Hill Leigh and
provide associated on-site parking provision. This protracted application has been the subject of
lengthy and detailed discussion and negotiations with the Council's Conservation Officer, the Highway
Authority, the Principal Ecologist and the Council's Arboriculturalist. It has also been the subject of
significant local objection (which is covered later in this report).

The 7 proposed houses would be constructed into two semi-detached blocks and one terrace
comprising three residential units. The proposed houses on plots 1-4 would be set back between 36 -
42 metres from the public highway and about 6 - 9 metres back from the existing footpath. Four of the
houses would be positioned behind and aligned broadly parallel with the existing Coronation Avenue
properties. In terms of separation, the proposed houses on plots 1- 4 would be set back between 19 -
29 metres from the Coronation Avenue dwellings. The remaining 3 houses (plots 5 - 7) would be set
at right angles to plots 1 - 4 in a linear built form and would be positioned in excess of 26 metres
behind the footpath and about 30 - 42 metres from the Woolley Street dwellings.

Attached to the north west gable of unit 3, the applicant proposes to erect a car port structure to
accommodate 4 vehicles with 4 additional car parking spaces provided in front of the building. In total,
each dwelling would have 2 dedicated on-site parking spaces. Two visitor spaces will also be
provided.

The proposed houses would be constructed from ashlar stone blocks with an ashlar string course for
the walls, timber painted sash and casement windows with natural stone surrounds, timber doors with
natural plain clay tiles for the roofs with red brick chimneys.

Page 22



Each residential plot would have its own dedicated cycle and bin storage facilities.

Access to the site would be achieved following the demolition of Hill Leigh. As stated above, this
property is not within the Conservation Area and therefore does not require Conservation Area
Consent for its demolition. Private on-site parking spaces would be surfaced in contrasting block
paviors. Within the retained orchard open space, new footpaths would be constructed of rolled
hoggin, with pegged timber edgings. In addition to the proposed reinstatement and repair to existing
dilapidated dry stone walling, the applicant proposes to plant native hedgerows and erect new stone
wall boundaries. The frontages of the proposed residential units facing the orchard would have a
mixture of traditional vertical bar railings and low timber knee high rails.

In recognising the need to retain the traditional orchard, the proposed dwellings have been sited and
arranged in a manner to preserve the orchard with the houses overlooking the communal green open
space, which itself would become much more of a public entity (following the demolition of Hillleigh
and the removal of the hedgerow located along the footpath). No tree transplanting is proposed or
deemed necessary.

A detailed Landscape Management Plan, Nature Conservation Management Plan, Landscaping
scheme and Arboricultural Report and Method Statement have all been submitted and it is proposed
that their implementation will provide for the long term continuity and nature conservation of the area.
The long term maintenance of the clearly annotated communal orchard area (and its nature
conservation and landscape management) shall fall within the legal remit of a private management
company. A draft management company document with model articles and draft title transfer has
been submitted to the Council.

In addition to the abovementioned supporting documents, a Design and Access Statement, an
extended phase 1 habitat survey and ecological impact assessment, bat surveys, an HIS assessment
and reptile survey have been submitted. The applicant also commissioned an Orchard Assessment
(which was completed in liaison with the Orchard Society) and assessed the "orchard according to the
criteria listed on the Wiltshire Traditional Orchards Project survey forms".

6. Planning Policy

Wiltshire & Swindon Structure Plan -

HE7 Conservation Areas; DP1 Priorities for Sustainable Development; DP3 Development Strategy;
DP7 Housing Development at Towns and Main Settlements; DP9 Development of Previously
Developed Land

West Wiltshire District Plan - 1st Alteration 2004 -

C6 Areas of High Ecological Value; C6a - Landscape Features; C17 Conservation Areas; C18 New
Development in Conservation Areas; C31a Design; C32 Landscaping; C35 Light Pollution; C38
Nuisance; C40 - Tree Planting; H1 Further Development Within Towns; H24 New Housing Design;
T10 Car Parking; U1a Foul Water Disposal; U2 Surface Water Disposal

West Wiltshire Leisure & Recreation Development Plan Document (adopted January 2009) - Policies
LP4, GM2 and GM3

Supplementary Planning Guidance -

Bradford on Avon Conservation Area Character Assessment (adopted March 2008)
Residential Design Guide (adopted November 2005)

Design Principles (adopted July 2004)

Government Guidance -
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

Emerging Wiltshire Core Strategy - Strategic Objectives:

Objective 1 - delivering a thriving economy

Objective 2 - addressing climate change

Obijective 3 - providing everyone with access to a decent, affordable home

Page 23



Objective 4 - helping to build resilient communities
Obijective 5 - protecting and enhancing the natural, historic and built environment
Obijective 6 - ensuring that adequate infrastructure is in place to support our communities

Core Policy 1 - Settlement Strategy; Core Policy 2 - Delivery Strategy; Core Policy 7 - Spatial
Strategy: Bradford on Avon Community Area; Core Policy 41 - Sustainable construction and low-
carbon energy; Core Policy 45 - Meeting Wiltshire's Housing Needs; Core Policy 50 - Biodiversity
and Geodiversity; Core Policy 51 - Landscape; Core Policy 52 - Green Infrastructure; Core Policy 57
- Ensuring High Quality Design and Place Shaping; Core Policy 58 - Ensuring the Conservation of
the Historic Environment; Core Policy 61 - Transport and Development

Other Considerations -

ODPM Circular 06/2005, Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended), Conservation of Habitats
and Species Regulations 2010

Wiltshire Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) 2008

The Plan for Woolley 2026 Neighbourhood Plan - (not adopted by the Council, but is endorsed by the
Town Council)

7. Consultations

Town/ Parish Council - Recommends refusal and that Members of the Planning Committee visit the
site prior to the application being discussed.

1. There is a long history to this scheme with a number of applications having been refused.
The key issues remain:

Does the new scheme provide an acceptable standard of design and amenity?
Can access be provided to acceptable physical and visual standards?

Does the scheme maintain the open character of the site?

Is there adequate long term protection for existing trees?

Not all of the open sites within the built-up area of the town are capable of accepting new
development without compromising standards and policy and it must be questionable whether a
residential development can be accommodated here without an unacceptably negative effect on the
locality. It is for the applicants to demonstrate that this scheme will preserve or enhance the character
of the Conservation Area and avoid adversely affecting the neighbourhood and this has not been
achieved.

In detail the following aspects of the scheme remain unresolved or are unsatisfactory:

layout - new dwellings are crammed into a corner of the site (in an effort to protect trees)

design - an attempt at vernacular style but overall the design is mediocre. Window proportions are
poor and uncoordinated, materials ill-defined and questionable (barge boards are especially intrusive)
parking - inadequate provision with cars visually dominating the layout

access - substandard with adverse effect on neighbouring properties and especially the amenity of
the dwellings on either side of the new access.

The effect of the proposed access on Coronation Avenue (notwithstanding the stated acceptance by
the Highway Authority)

Recommendation: Refuse - The scheme does not comply with Policy H1 and in particular sections A,
B, D, E and F. In addition the scheme fails to conserve the character of the Conservation Area and is
therefore contrary to Policy C18.

Highways - No objections, subject to conditions. The layout shown on plan drawing CA/P/003 is
acceptable. Whilst the objections raised by local residents are duly noted, the principle of an access
to serve a residential development in this location is acceptable. A speed survey was carried out and
the required sight lines were established as a result of the survey. The proposal meets the
requirements as set out in Manual for Streets for a residential development of this nature. The turning
head and parking arrangement are also acceptable.

Page 24



Council's Conservation Officer - No conservation or heritage based objections are raised.

The majority of the existing site is a private open space on the edge of, but within, the Conservation
Area. The site itself is not readily visible from public view points. The houses of Coronation Avenue
block views from the south and west; the buildings of Woolley Street block views from the east; and
the views from the public footpath 70 - 90 metres away to the north, are blocked by the belt of
protected trees and buildings on Woolley Street. The alleyway running along the south boundary of
the orchard is a private access only.

The site forms part of the heritage asset of the Bradford on Avon Conservation Area; and the NPPF
requires local planning authorities "to identify and assess the particular significance of any element of
the historic environment that may be affected by the relevant proposal”.

This orchard site is identified in the Bradford on Avon Conservation Area Character Assessment as a
'significant private enclosed space'. However, its importance in the public realm and street scene is
minimal. As described above, the site cannot be readily viewed from public view points.
Consequently, its significance is currently low as it does not visually contribute to the special
character and appearance of the Conservation Area. The scheme offers an opportunity to bring this
hidden site into the public view and improve the presence of the orchard within the Conservation
Area.

Orchard Character and Landscaping

There would be a substantial amount of open space left within the site. The trees on the north and
western boundaries are protected and would be retained. The use of the area as an orchard is an
important feature within the Conservation Area and this should be preserved. The revised scheme
would retain many of the existing fruit trees to maintain the orchard planting and consequently
maintain the character of the Conservation Area. In addition there would be further tree planting within
the orchard. The use and appearance of the site as an orchard would therefore be enhanced.

The additional planting and landscaping proposed around the boundaries of the site, and the repair of
the historic stone walls would be of benefit to the special character and appearance of the
Conservation Area especially as this site would become part of the street scene. The tree works and
repairs to historic boundaries are consequently in accordance with criterion C of Policy C18 of the
West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration.

Proposed Dwellings

The form of the proposed buildings would echo the line of other properties and terraces in the
immediate vicinity within the Conservation Area. The proposed location and scale of the buildings
would retain the feeling of space within the area which is so characteristic of the site at present.

The traditional design of the buildings reflects the historic buildings in the Conservation Area and
would not harm the special character and appearance of the Conservation Area. The fenestration is
traditional and does not appear to be overly repetitive. Consequently, the layout, scale, form and
detailed designs are in accordance with criterion B of Policy C18 of the District Plan.

Similarly, these details would ensure the scheme satisfies the NPPF as this scheme would make a
positive contribution to the character and local distinctiveness of the historic environment. The
previous scheme in 2010 lacked adequate chimney details. This is not the case in this application as
each dwelling has been afforded a chimney which adds to the traditional character of the proposed
development.

The quality of materials in the application is high, assuming that natural materials shall be used. A
condition for material samples is required to ensure accordance with criterion E of Policy C18 of the
District Plan.

Hard Landscaping and Parking
Page 25



The division of the site to provide separate gardens for each property is acceptable as the divisions
are against the boundary of the site and therefore would not harm the open character of the orchard.
The boundary treatments should be approved by condition. | would also suggest a condition removing
permitted development rights for further garden buildings, boundary treatments and extensions in
order to preserve the special character and appearance of the Conservation Area.

In the main, the proposed parking would be located within the entrance to the site and adjacent to the
dwellings. A small number of spaces would project from the turning area into the orchard, however
providing a high quality boundary detail is used and subject to a suitable surfacing material, these
small encroachments would not result in harm to the openness of the orchard part of the site.

Proposed Entrance and Significance of the Site

The proposed entrance in place of Hill Leigh would have a beneficial impact on the views into and out
of the Conservation Area. Following the removal of Hill Leigh, there would be a direct view from
Coronation Road into the Conservation Area and the orchard. This would be a significant
improvement to the setting of this part of the Conservation Area and would raise the significance of
the orchard to that of a very important open space within the public realm of the Conservation Area
and result in an improvement to the setting of the Conservation Area. This is in accordance with
Policy C17 and criterion D of Policy C18 of the District Plan.

Whilst PPS5 is no longer a valid national policy statement (following its revocation when the NPPF
was published), it is nevertheless still necessary for local authorities when considering applications for
development that affect the setting of a heritage asset, to treat favourably applications that better
reveal the significance of the asset. In this particular case, it is argued that the significance of the site
would be better revealed following the demolition of the Hill Leigh property (which has no architectural
or historic merit), the creation of a new access and improved landscaping management.

Conclusion

The essential character of this site within the Conservation Area, one of a private open green space
and a transition between the built up area of Bradford on Avon and the countryside, would be
enhanced as the proposed built form would be entirely along the eastern and southern boundaries of
the site and the whole site would be brought into the public realm. The site would remain as an urban-
rural transition site but its significance would be raised and it would be included within the street
scene.

The raised significance of the heritage asset is a clear benefit to the public through enhanced access
to and views of the asset. The development shall result in proper management of the landscape and
orchard. The design and materials of the proposed buildings would be in keeping with the local area
and would therefore not result in harm to the special character and appearance of the Conservation
Area.

In consideration of the above points, the proposals would satisfy the criteria of Policies C17 and C18
of the adopted District Plan for this area as well as with the NPPF.

Council's Ecologist - No objection subject to a planning condition and s.106.

This application follows on from application W/10/00259/FUL which was refused for several reasons
including ecology; and specifically for: insufficient survey information; lack of a robust ecological
impact assessment; and loss of a BAP habitat. The current application is supported by an Ecological
Impact Assessment which contains the results of detailed survey work (bryophyte, lichen,
invertebrate, reptile and bat surveys). The scope and methodology of the survey work for this
planning application is satisfactory.

These detailed surveys have confirmed the presence of traditional orchard habitat at the site, which is
a UK Priority BAP habitat. However, no evidence was found for the orchard supporting rare or
threatened species assemblages. The site is however considered to be of local importance and
since the site contains BAP habitat, the following needs to be considered:

Page 26



The NPPF places an obligation on local authorities to protect existing biodiversity and secure positive
enhancements in general (key principle 1(ii)), and to conserve BAP habitats in particular (paragraph
11).

The Wiltshire BAP 2008 in its Traditional Orchards Habitat Action plan contains a target (TOT4) to
"ensure the importance of traditional orchards is reflected in planning and TPO decisions" and against
this the target measure is "no known net loss of traditional orchards due to development or
inappropriate felling".

Core Policy 50 of the emerging Wiltshire Core Strategy includes the following requirement:
"Development proposals must demonstrate how they protect, and where possible enhance, features
of nature conservation and geological value [including BAP habitats] as part of the design rational.
There is an expectation that such features shall be retained, buffered, and managed favourably in
order to maintain their ecological value, connectivity and functionality in the long-term".

The development will result in some loss of orchard habitat and six mature/ over-mature trees.
However, the trees to be removed do not support significant bryophyte or lichen communities. The
core orchard habitat comprising the majority of the mature fruit trees will be retained, and to mitigate
the loss of six trees, the scheme proposes to plant 12 new trees. These will be grown on vigorous
rootstocks and include traditional Wiltshire varieties, which is appropriate. It will result in a net
increase in the number of fruit trees (from 20 to 26) and enhance the age structure of the orchard
which will benefit its longevity.

At present, the orchard is unmanaged land but the proposed development layout will remove the
surrounding rough grassland and result in the close proximity of buildings to the retained fruit trees.
With the proposed mitigation, this orchard will still meet the definition of traditional orchard BAP
habitat (under the UK Habitat Action Plan) and will still meet the draft criteria for traditional orchard
BAP habitat used by the Wiltshire Wildlife Trust.

An essential part of the mitigation scheme is regular favourable management. This will be crucial for
the orchard’s continued existence within the development (for the survival of existing and newly
planted fruit trees, and the associated habitats and species assemblages). For this application to
meet the requirements of the NPPF and the Wiltshire BAP, the orchard needs to be protected and
enhanced through appropriate management, and safeguarded in the long-term, and ideally in
perpetuity. The framework for a Nature Conservation Management Plan (NCMP) is included in the
Ecological Assessment, proposed to be funded through a Management Company.

Consideration has been given to the phasing of development and the storage of construction
materials to protect the retained trees (Proposed Compound/ Storage/ Site Parking & Phasing of
Build, Drawing no. CA/P/015, November 2011). If permission is granted, the development should be
carried out in strict accordance with this plan and with a regular ecological watching brief.

With regard to protected species, reptiles were not found at the site during survey work but it is
possible that low numbers are present, particularly along the site margins and old stone walls. Several
common species of bat were found to forage and commute on and adjacent to the site. However the
trees are considered to have negligible roosting potential. Table 5.1 in the submitted Ecological
Impact Assessment sets out appropriate mitigation measures to avoid harm to breeding birds and
reptiles during the construction phase; and measures to enable bats to continue to use the site when
the development is operational. Table 5.2 provides details of appropriate enhancement measures. If
permission is granted, the development should be carried out in full accordance with these
recommendations.

In order for the LPA to be satisfied that there will be no net loss of BAP habitat as a result of the
proposed development, and in fact a net gain, the retained orchard habitat needs to be appropriately
managed and safeguarded in the long-term. The initially proposed 5-year management period was
not considered sufficient. The revised NCMP framework is acceptable as it stipulates that the site
shall be managed in perpetuity, with the plan being subject to regular reviews with updated versions
being submitted to the Council for its written approval. The draft legal document (titled TP1) detailing
the responsibilities of the Management Company covers the necessary obligation to implement the

Page 27



NCMP and includes further restrictions on damaging activities within the orchard habitat. The
establishment of the Management Company should be secured through a S.106.

Overall, the submitted documents confirm that favourable management and protection of the retained
orchard and newly created habitats can be secured in perpetuity with legal responsibilities being held
by a Management Company.

Council's Tree and Landscape Officer - The submitted arboricultural related objections and
observations made by third parties and Friends of Woolley (FOW) have been fully considered along
with those representations submitted by an arboricultural consultant acting on behalf of FOW.
However, the arboricultural and landscape related issues and previous concerns have been
addressed and resolved. The revised landscape scheme can now be achieved. For many years the
fruit trees within the centre of the site have been the subject of much discussion centering on whether
they should be protected. On each occasion, no Tree Preservation Order (TPO) has been made for
numerous reasons; but, primarily because the trees are not within the public domain and are not
easily viewed from public areas. However, if this development is approved, the site would be opened
up, exposing the small group of fruit trees to the wider public and thus, would enable them to be re-
assessed for their suitability for a TPO.

The development proposal specifies a reasonable amount of hedgerow plants that reflect the
distances they have to cover and details how the ground should be prepared to receive them,
establish and mature. New fruit trees are to be planted to ensure any future orchard is stocked with a
good variety on good healthy root stock. A Management Plan has been provided to ensure the
landscape scheme is correctly maintained and retained in perpetuity. The submitted Arboricultural
Method Statement and supporting information is also satisfactory.

If permission is to be granted, specific landscape related conditions are required.

Council's Archaeologist - The site has no archaeological interest.

Wiltshire Wildlife Trust - The Trust remains of the view that the proposal would cause damage to an
important remnant of Traditional Orchard and UK Biodiversity Action Plan Priority (BAP) Habitat.

The revised proposal does not mitigate against the proposed loss of fruit trees and does not fulfil the
important principle of net Biodiversity gain. PPS9 requires planning decisions to prevent harm to
Biodiversity interests. The land was surveyed on 11 June 2010, with permission of Wiltshire County
Council. The survey confirmed the status of the site as of being a traditional orchard. All public bodies
(including the Council) have a Biodiversity Duty under the Natural Environment and Rural
Communities Act (NERC) 2006, to have due regard for conserving biodiversity. This includes
restoring or enhancing a population or habitat.

Council's Spatial Planning Team - Previous policy responses did not raise any objections to the
principle of residential development on this site, but did raise questions around open space provision,
the need for a design statement, transport impacts, and the promotion of alternatives to the car.

The principle of residential development on the site is still considered to be acceptable providing that
the criterion set out in Policy H1 of the West Wiltshire District Plan are met. The Emerging Wiltshire
Core Strategy identifies Bradford on Avon as a Market Town (Core Policy 1), and indicates that there
will be a presumption in favour of sustainable development within the defined limits of development of
the Market Towns (Core Policy 2). The Wiltshire Core Strategy pre-submission document also
includes Core Policy 52 which seeks to protect and enhance Wiltshire’s green infrastructure network.
This states that "where development is permitted, developers will be required to...retain and enhance
existing on site green infrastructure". The supporting text to Core Policy 52 notes that the green
infrastructure network includes "existing amenity green spaces", "woodlands and forests" and "areas
of high biodiversity value".

It should be noted that the Wiltshire Core Strategy has not yet been subject to independent
examination, and hence is only referenced to give an indication as to likely future direction of policy.
The loss of an existing area of green space at the site is considered to be regrettable, and the Council
will need to be satisfied that criterion D of Policy H1 of the West Wiltshire District Plan is satisfied, in

Page 28



that the development will "not result in the loss of an open area or visual gap important for recreation
or amenity reasons".

In terms of other material considerations, Friends of Woolley have prepared a Plan for Woolley 2026
and have indicated that this has received endorsement from the Town Council. The Plan for Woolley
includes an aspiration that the application site should be a designated local green space, and that the
orchard should be enhanced/restored. The Plan for Woolley also includes an action to "seek the
exclusion of the remaining Traditional Orchard from Bradford-on-Avon settlement boundary" and
indicates that the orchard "has been confirmed as a National Priority habitat in the UK Biodiversity
Action Plan" and that there have been sightings of ‘Nationally Protected Species at Risk/Priority
Species’ at the site. The Plan for Woolley is not adopted planning policy, but is nonetheless
considered to be a material consideration in the determination of the application. In particular, the
aspiration to retain the orchard as local green space, and the potential impacts of development on
nationally important habitat/species will need to be taken into consideration.

In terms of open space provision, the West Wiltshire Leisure and Recreation DPD was adopted in
January 2009 and includes Policy LP4 which states that "where new development (especially
housing) creates a need for access to open space or sport and recreation provision, an assessment
will be made as to whether a contribution to open space or sport and recreation provision is required".
The Council will therefore need to be satisfied that the requirements of Policy LP4 are met.

The previous policy response also raised issues relating to transport impacts and promotion of
alternatives to the car. The Council will need to be satisfied that these issues have been addressed.

Council's Public Open Space Officer - This application proposal does not trigger any POS
requirements.

Council's Education Team - Bradford on Avon is a significant pressure point for demand for places,
and was recently highlighted in the case of a residential development at the Mill Lane Car Park site in
the Town (application w/11/01971/FUL refers). The Council continues to seek developer
contributions on all applications coming forward within the designated areas that generate a need for
one or more places, as an exception to standard policy. The proposed 6 new housing units (when
taking into account the loss of Hill Leigh) would all be put on the open market and be above one bed
size (where no discounts apply) and would generate a need for an additional 2 primary and 1
secondary school places. The designated area schools: Christ Church Primary and St Laurence
Secondary schools are full and forecast to remain so. If this housing development is to be approved, it
is essential that the Council secures full contributions on this application of 2 x primary places at the
current cost multiplier of £12,713 each and 1 secondary place at £19,155 (to be index linked). These
multipliers remain valid on S106 agreements signed up until 31 March 2013.

Council's Environmental Protection Team - Recommends approval subject to a condition.

Wessex Water - No objections subject to an informative.

Environment Agency - The development proposals fall out with the remit of the Agency, and
therefore, no comments are submitted.

8.  Publicity

The application was advertised by site notices (located along Coronation Avenue, Woolley Street and
along the footway where it adjoins the allotments), a press notice and extensive neighbour
notification.

Expiry date: 6 January 2012.

Summary of points raised:

Duncan Hames MP_ - Objects. | am aware that this is the sixth planning application at this site in as
many years, and that many local residents have emphasised the similarities between the previous

application and this current one. Indeed the Town Council has stated that there are still issues around

Page 29




the long term protection for the existing trees, maintaining the open character of the site, as well as
access, design, and amenity considerations. It is acknowledged that the previous application was
refused on grounds including ecology, landscape and conservation matters.

The Town Council has registered the concerns voiced by many local residents that the application
fails to conserve the character of the conservation area. The Bradford on Avon Preservation Trust
agrees with this assessment and that Members of the planning committee should visit the site prior to
the meeting so that they can see how unsuitable this site is for this scale of residential development.

| would strongly emphasise the importance of the Plan for Woolley 2026 neighbourhood plan to the
local community. In this they have set out their vision for their neighbourhood's future with great
clarity, and the traditional orchard plays a key role in many aspects of this, including the area's
character, environmental, climate change, community, and economic matters. The Friends of Woolley
community group has also sent an extensive objection to this application and recommends its refusal.

The Government no longer recognises garden ground as brown field. Through the Government's
reforms, local councils should be able to protect the character of local neighbourhoods, and that the
Government's emphasis is on local communities deciding the type of development they feel is
suitable for their area.

The proposed development is near a school route and local residents have also raised concerns over
access issues and traffic and pedestrian safety, particularly in relation to the visibility issues and
parking. Although the Council's highways department has apparently advised that it is satisfied with
the proposed development, concerns remain over the addition to existing parking problems, with
many Woolley Street residents having to park in Coronation Avenue. Parked cars along both sides of
the road already restrict visibility of traffic and pedestrians trying to cross the road.

There are also concerns for the point at which a new road would cross an existing footpath. The
Woolley Allotments Association has confirmed that it has deeds of access to this path and that it will
not accept its members losing unrestricted access to it. Works to complete the development would
apparently cause this path to be closed off during working hours for around one year.

The Council must ensure that the area's wildlife and ecology are properly protected. | have seen
reports from the observers monitoring wildlife in the area in 2005 and note the range of species
identified, including five which are apparently on the UK's Red List. One local resident has advised
that even if some new trees were planted once the development has been completed, this habitat
would have already been undermined through the felling of existing trees and the loss of space.

Furthermore, new properties will be in close proximity to retained trees, which could lead to damage
to the trees' root structures and compromise the strength of the buildings either through direct
damage from roots or secondary damage caused by their effects on the soil. There may be
recommended planting distances which it would have been be reasonable to expect a development in
an orchard to adhere to.

Concerns have also been raised over the development's proximity and relationship to existing
properties, with a number of respondents explaining that certain proposed dwellings will overshadow
their homes and gardens, or even have a view directly into their homes. Local residents have also
objected to the treatment of boundaries, the use of bargeboards, the demolition of Hill Leigh, and the
effect that these would have on the character of the area.

Wiltshire Council has stated that it still considers the principle of residential development on this site
to be acceptable - a position which the applicants have strongly emphasised. Nevertheless | would
draw your attention to the Town Council's comment that it is increasingly evident that not all of the
open sites within the built up area of the town are capable of accommodating new development.

| am concerned that regardless of how these plans may be amended in the future, it may not prove
possible to formulate a proposal for development that does not have a severe detrimental impact on
the area's ecology and conservation needs. This is emphasised by the current planning application
being the sixth one in six years which has failed to find a solution to these issues.

Page 30



I would urge you to ensure that local residents' views, expressed both through their consultation
responses and their neighbourhood plan, are fully considered. | do not accept that this application has
resolved concerns on the basis of which previous applications have been refused.

Indeed, given the volume of unviable applications which have been received for this site, it may be
helpful for Wiltshire Council to recognise the neighbourhood plan for Woolley as soon as possible in
order to help clarify what development will and will not be considered appropriate in this area.

Bradford on Avon Preservation Trust - Supports the Town Council's recommendation for refusal. The
Trust strongly recommends that Members of the Committee visit the site to see how unsuitable it is for
residential development, including the complete lack of an acceptable access.

Woolley Allotments Association - Objects on the basis that if approved, the footpath which is used by
allotment plot holders and share holders, would be obstructed. The Allotment Association holds a
Deed of Access (dated 1930). Preventing access to the allotments (for a suggested one year period)
is not acceptable. The footpath (although not publicly owned) has been used by the public for over 50
years and there must be a genuine safety concern about the proposed new road crossing the footpath
due to lack of visibility. The Allotment Association supports the local request for the orchard to be
protected and the trees covered by a TPO.

Friends of Woolley (FOW) - "Strongly" objects and lists the following reasons for doing so:

1. The proposed development would result in the loss of National Priority Traditional Orchard Habitat
(UK Biodiversity Action Plan)

2. It would damage an acknowledged Heritage Asset and does not preserve or enhance the character
or appearance of the Conservation area.

3. There would be a substantial impact on Coronation Avenue and on the amenity of adjacent
properties.

4. There are serious concerns about pedestrian, cyclist and driver safety.

5. There are many inaccuracies and omissions in the documentation submitted.

6. The application does not comply with the West Wiltshire Local Plan, the Adopted Conservation
Area Character Assessment, the emerging Core Strategy, national Planning Statements 1, 3,5 & 9 or
the National Planning Policy Framework.

7. The principle of development on this site has not been previously accepted.

8. The Plan for Woolley 2026 Neighbourhood Plan and the "Localism" agenda are material
considerations as locals recognise the importance of the orchard to the community of Woolley. The
Neighbourhood Plan has been formally adopted by the Friends of Woolley and has the endorsement
of the Town Council Planning Committee. Wiltshire Council's Spatial Planning Team has also advised
that it is being used as evidence for the emerging Core Strategy.

9. Woolley 2026 shows this orchard as an 'historic orchard' to be 'enhanced/ restored', and for
designation as a protected 'Local Green Space', and seeks 'exclusion of the Traditional Orchard
habitat from the Bradford on Avon Settlement Boundary'. In addition FoW has through its successful
apple juicing project, demonstrated the potential viability of orchards in Woolley, the Plan for Woolley
2026 seeks to 'establish a Community Orchard' and FoW has sought to contact the land owner on a
number of occasions expressing an interest in acquisition. The neighbourhood plan includes further
relevant information.

10. This orchard previously formed the bulk of the mature garden of No. 69 Woolley Street. Evidence
of this former use is clear on site in the form of the now derelict swimming pool, blue picket fencing,
and an arch that led into the orchard as well as the presence of a domestic scale greenhouse. The
government has amended planning policy so that gardens should no longer be considered as brown
field. It is certainly not 'sui generis' as claimed by the applicant. Research at the Swindon and
Wiltshire History Centre indicates that the adjacent building, which is now The George Public House,
dates back to the late 1600s and the application site once formed part of the grounds of this property.
Orchards are specifically mentioned as forming part of the property in leases dating back to the
1700s. This indicates that the historic interest of the planning application site dates back several
centuries.

11. The application does not deliver good design. An alien cul-de-sac is proposed with 3 building
blocks intruding on high ground in the heart of an important mosaic of orchards and gardens.

12. There are a significant number of protected species using this open green and tranquil site,
including newts, frogs, redwings, owls, several species of bats, hedgehogs etc. The ecological

Page



surveys submitted are patchy and do not reflect the full value of this site to a range of species, nor do
they record all the plants/trees found on or species that use this open green space.

13. The proposed buildings and paving are squeezed in and around the major apple trees. These are
of substantial importance to the character of the Conservation Area and an intrinsic part of the wider
Traditional Orchard National Priority Habitat.

14. The sole means of access to units 5-7 is through the proposed orchard habitat. The garages and
units 3-5 are hard up / very close to the canopies of the main fruit trees.

15. The proposed houses will suffer severely from a lack of natural light and there will be constant
pressure for crown reduction and/or removal of these fine and characteristic specimens of the
Conservation Area, and nationally important Traditional Orchard Habitat. The conflict between the
Arboricultural report and the layout and dimensions of buildings threatens the existing mature trees
during the inevitably disruptive construction work and also by bringing 'hazardous construction
materials to within 2m of their canopies when 10m separation is required.

16. The arboricultural report does not address the threat to a number of the TPO trees.

17. Some of the proposed fruit trees are so close to the edge of the canopies of the vigorously
growing TPO sycamore trees that they will fail to establish or flourish.

18. It is unrealistic to expect that with this layout, the remaining trees and ground flora can be
managed as a Traditional Orchard Habitat, and activities, noise and light will disturb what habitat
remains. There will be a significant impact on the biodiversity value of the site.

19. Planning Policy requires planning decisions to prevent harm to biodiversity interests. Where there
would be significant harm, the local planning authority needs to be satisfied that the development
cannot reasonably be located on any alternative sites that would result in less or no harm. Wiltshire
Council's emerging Core Strategy includes policies to protect biodiversity interests and sets out areas
for development up to 2026, clearly demonstrating that there is no overriding need for development to
take place on this site.

20. Six of the twenty existing fruit trees would be felled and turned into a 'log pile'. In addition an
extensive area of productive, suckering and ecologically valuable plums will be lost. The proposed
development damages the integrity of, and results in a reduction in the area of Traditional Orchard
Habitat. It would impact on the biodiversity of the remaining habitat and threaten the survival of the
remaining important fruit trees on the site. The application is therefore contrary to the UK Biodiversity
Action Plan, the Local Plan and Core Strategy policies and the Plan for Woolley 2026.

21. The landscape scheme is inadequate (and would not sustain or enhance a significant recognised
heritage asset, or National Priority Habitat). The threat to important fruit trees and TPO’d trees are
further inadequacies of the applicant's landscape proposals.

22. The layout brings buildings into the centre of an open and green mosaic of gardens and orchards
that is of acknowledged importance in both the Adopted Conservation Character Assessment and in
the Plan for Woolley 2026. Being so central and on high ground and so close to the boundaries of the
site, this proposed layout gives no possibility of achieving an appropriate landscape scheme.

23. The proposed 1m wide 'landscape buffer' along the eastern boundary and the 1m separation
between the building at plot 7 and the northern boundary is too narrow to provide any effective
separation from or buffering to the residual 'significant private open space' mosaic of gardens and
orchards that provides the setting to the surrounding local interest buildings and is such a key feature
of the Conservation Area.

24. The documentation contains no firm proposals for the future management of the open space, with
both private management and local authority management being suggested. This lack of clarity
makes the 'planning gain' claimed meaningless.

25. The proposed layout introduces an alien form of development into the Woolley Conservation Area.
The surrounding area is entirely car free and of a distinctive green and open character. The proposed
road and parking layout is totally out of keeping with the character and historic settlement pattern of
the Conservation Area. Together the three groups of proposed buildings would read as a virtually
continuous built form on the skyline in views within and of the Conservation Area, urbanizing and
severely impacting on the character and appearance of the Conservation Area. The proposed
development will be highly intrusive in the peaceful and tranquil green heart of the northern part of the
Conservation Area at Woolley, impacting on a range of views.

26. There would be a loss of 'important views' from the paths that give the sole means of public and
private access to surrounding historic terraces of cottages. There would also be loss of views from
the Public Right of Way crossing the field to the northeast. Views would also be impacted on over and
between buildings as seen from public roads and footpaths - here the site forms a green and open
backdrop to the surrounding buildings.

Page 32



27. The buildings, their materials, massing and proposed layout are of poor design and will not
conserve or enhance the character and appearance of the Conservation Area.
28. The unmanaged state of the orchard and derelict state of the swimming pool (which are the direct
result of the developer's actions) must be ignored in making any planning decision on this site.
29. The proposed demolition of Hill Leigh - one of a harmonious group of stone built 1930s houses
with well vegetated gardens - would create a prominent and unacceptable gap, replacing a house and
mature garden with a tight roadway and parking. The impact on Coronation Avenue is unacceptable.
This was an explicit reason for the refusal of the previous application 08/02912/FUL which was similar
in essential respects. The applicant's claim that demolition is a 'positive feature' in providing direct
views into the Conservation Area is specious: because of the boundary treatments such views are
principally of a road, car turning and parking areas.
30. Impact on the residential amenity of neighbouring houses and gardens - The distances between
buildings and boundaries and the proposed gardens are too small with insufficient space for effective
buffering. The two storey dwellings will have an overbearing impact on adjacent houses and gardens.
In addition the replacement of a private house and mature gardens and the introduction of public
pedestrian and vehicular traffic adjacent to the boundaries to Hainault and Sunnymead will have an
unacceptable impact on their amenity.
31. Safety Concerns - unsafe for drivers, cyclists and pedestrians - The proposal to build a 2m high
stone wall immediately alongside the footpath linking Woolley Street and Coronation Avenue to
Sladesbrook will result in an unpleasant, oppressive and potentially unsafe 'back alley' effect. This is
not consistent with the principles of 'Secure by Design'.
32. The visibility splays do not meet the requirements of the Manual for Streets either at the junction
with Coronation Avenue or for users of the path running behind Coronation Avenue (which is well
used by school children). Visibility of approaching pedestrians would be minimal. Many local residents
have no choice but to park on the street. Pressure for parking in the area is increasing. Coronation
Avenue is narrow. Parked cars will block sight lines. If parking is limited, then traffic speeds will
increase and visibility splays will need to be longer.
33. There is no commitment to natural stone on the building facades despite this visually prominent
location in the Conservation Area.
34. The window proportions and arrangements include a muddle of shapes and forms, and some that
breach the string course - this does not compliment the distinctive character of buildings in the
Conservation Area. In addition, plain clay roof tiles, white timber door canopies, close boarded fences,
‘ornate’ metal railings and red brick chimneys are not typical of and do not compliment and will harm
the character and appearance of the Woolley Conservation Area.
35. The current application contains numerous inaccuracies and has significant omissions.
Inadequate preparation, justification and presentation have been a feature of most previous
applications and these were specific reasons for refusing W/10/00259/FUL. The developer has
chosen to carry over many of these deficiencies to the present application and made minimal effort to
overcome them. This merits refusal of the planning application.
36. The application fails to illustrate the impact on acknowledged heritage assets including 'important
views' in the Conservation Area.
37. The extent of the area of fruit trees is under reported, including a significant area of suckering and
highly productive traditional variety Oullin's Gage trees is omitted from the survey and plans.
38. The size of one of the main apple trees (28) is substantially under-reported - reported as 4m
diameter when in reality seems to measure 5.8 - 6m. The apple identifications for trees 28 & 29 are
incorrect. Tree 23 is not just Bramley Seedling, the RHS has confirmed that this tree is of dual type - it
has been grafted in the past and a significant part of the canopy is identified by the RHS as another
traditional variety - Newton Wonder. Tree 29 has been reviewed by the RHS and K Goverd - an
acknowledged expert in the field - as probably Barnack Beauty - a traditional variety dating back to
about 1870. It is definitely not Blenheim Orange, which is very different in appearance and flavour.
39. The submitted survey does not identify the type of plum trees on site. These highly productive and
suckering trees have been identified as a gage like plum tree known as 'Oullin's Gage' - a traditional
variety dating back to the 1850's.
40. The orchard survey form variably fails to note: the 2 cherry trees on the site or the hazel or birch;
the orchard immediately to the north of the site, or the open fields that form part of a continuity of
green space connecting through to the orchard; the many fruit trees in the mosaic of orchards and
gardens surrounding the site; the suckering on either the apple or plum trees; that there are some
younger fruit trees on the site; that there are some cavities/crevices in some of the fruit trees does not
record the main fruit trees as 'veteran' when they have been previously identified as such by the
Wildlife Trust and ecologist.

Page 33



41. A number of the trees in 'hedgerow' 25 are of sufficient girth and height to warrant possible
retention in the Conservation Area, yet all are proposed for felling without justification.

42. The site sections and proposed site plan show an 'existing stone wall to be retained' along the
northern boundary that does not exist.

43. The landscape management plan and Design and Access statement variously talk about
managing the open space by a private management company or offering to the local authority as
open space - there is no certainty as to what is proposed.

44. The description of the context of the site in the Design and Access Statement is inaccurate - it
wrongly states that the historic local interest terraced cottages to the north front onto Grange View, it
fails to mention the existing orchard directly adjacent to the application site.

45. The facing materials proposed for the buildings are ambiguous - 'ashlar stone' - this could be
reconstituted (which is unacceptable in a Conservation Area) or natural material.

46. Plan CA/P/009 purports to show a 'cock & hen wall detail' - it does not.

47. The application form says no public roads are proposed - yet plan CA P 011 shows the internal
road to be adopted by the Local Authority

48. The drawings are misleading in terms of impact on No. 69 Woolley Street - the proposed site plan
shows 69 as much closer to the proposed buildings than the sections. We have measured this and
No. 69 is approximately 7.3m from its garden fence at its closest.

49. Section AA is misleading - there is no space for trees between the plot 4 (as shown on the
proposed site plan) and the site boundary. There is no possibility of an effective landscape buffer
here.

50. The Arboricultural report states that the development may impact on trees in neighbours' gardens,
yet this impact is not assessed.

51. No traffic data has been submitted to justify the substandard visibility splays proposed. There
have been recent changes in traffic patterns, increases in through traffic as a result of the new
roundabout at the junction of New Road and Woolley Street, plus further increases in parked cars.
New traffic data should be provided.

52. Objections raised against garden grabbing. The viability of the orchard has been demonstrated
by FOW.

53. The applicant has not consulted with or approached the Woolley community.

54. The applicant has not provided an Assessment of the impact of the development on the
Conservation Area

55. The development would be intrusive and the proposed mass of buildings would affect views from
PROWs, local footpaths and from neighbouring properties

56. The application does not overcome the reasons for refusal of w/10/00259/FUL

57. The development results in impacts that substantially outweigh any benefits.

58. After receiving further arboricultural advice from a Neil MacDonald, orchard manager of Orchard
Pig Ground Force - further concern has been raised about building housing close to existing apple
trees.

Light shading concern can cause significant decline in the health of apple trees as they require light
for photosynthesis. Reduced light will also impact on fruit production.

Wind sheltering of a tree/trees by buildings or soil objects can also cause issue with disease and
change micro climate leading to scab, blossom wilt and other fungal or insect issues. Reduced air
circulation will detrimentally affect trees.

Introducing impervious surfacing over roots can badly affect nutrient and water uptake. Trees requires
both tap root for water and fine root hairs for nutrient and if either are severed or where natural growth
is prevented, tree health can be significantly affected.

FOW reaffirm the local view that the orchard has a viable future as a traditional orchard. If refused

and appealed, FOW is ready, willing and able to provide evidence in support of any appeal.

In addition to the above, it should be noted that of the 39 letters of objection received, with many
objectors raising objections detailed above. Additional local objections (not covered above) can be
summarised as follows:-

Page 34



1. Trees not within the control/ ownership of the applicant would have the potential to affect the
proposed access drive

2. Doubts are raised about how the site could be managed as a Traditional Orchard habitat and
there is an example of the applicant's approach to landscaping elsewhere in the conservation area at
49 Woolley Street. The site, which was once a mature garden with hedgerow, now looks more like a
scene from a warzone. It demonstrates that no matter how robust the conditions are, the net loss in
the short term of any development is severe and the incentive to adhere to the conditions are few.
The orchard is too important and delicate a habitat to risk a repeat of these actions.

3. The site should be made into a community space and has a viable and sustainable future as an
orchard

4. Detrimental impact on skyline

5. Unacceptable, unjustified demolition of Hill Leigh

6. Incoherent and unsympathetic housing layout, design, appearance and detailing / plots appear
very small for 3-bed dwellings - future risk of orchard encroachment / there is no commitment to using
natural stone on the building facades / messy fenestration detailing

7.  Overlooking / overbearing impacts / window-window conflicts / loss of residential amenity and
privacy

8.  Noise nuisance (e.g. loss of quiet enjoyment in existing neighbouring rear gardens), loss of light
and light pollution

9. Lack of parking and loss of parking along Coronation Avenue which will be made worse.

10. No confidence in the supporting statements which are inaccurate and inadequate / vagueness
about community benefit and gain

11. Proposals are contrary to what locals want as well as being contrary to the community driven
Plan for Woolley 2026

12. The need for additional housing in Bradford on Avon should be carefully balanced against the
availability of suitable brown field sites (such as Kingston Mills) and green field sites such as this.

13. Construction operations will threaten the veteran fruit trees.

14. The applicant has not indicated how the existing electricity utility pole (which services houses on
both sides of Coronation Avenue) will be dealt with. It would be unacceptable for it to be relocated in
front of a neighbour's home in order for the developer to create the access.

15. Concerns raised about the condition of the pavement and gutter along Woolley Street to the
junction with Woolley Terrace. Potholes in the road.

16. Object strongly to the timing of the meeting at which this application will be considered, during a
holiday period, when some local residents shall be away and unable to attend the meeting. A
postponement is requested.

17. Object to only being given one week’s notice of the committee date (and receipt of the
committee paperwork).

18. Concerned that the committee report does not respond to each of the bullet-pointed objections
separately.

19. One local resident (of No. 83 Woolley Street) wrote in to say she was “fairly certain [of finding]
evidence of badger activity. They have burrowed about a metre into the ground barely a metre from
the boundary of my land adjacent to the proposed site and very close to where the terrace of houses
are proposed to be built. There are many bees buzzing around the burrow and can only assume the
badger was seeking out the bees nest which is understood to be one of their favoured activities. Both
the wildlife Trust and the Council’s ecologist have been notified and shall investigate this matter.

9. Planning Considerations

Principle of Development

The site is located entirely within the defined Town Policy limits of Bradford on Avon and under Policy
H1 of the West Wiltshire District Plan, proposals for new housing development in this area may be
permitted provided, inter alia, that the siting, layout and design considerations are satisfactory, and
that they are in keeping with the character of the surrounding area and that providing such
development does not give rise to highway problems or create inappropriate backland or tandem
development. As detailed above, this particular site also has BAP status and the environmental and
ecological interests have been fully considered and are duly considered later on in this report.

Page 35



Policy H24 leads on to state that new housing should face onto, with windows and doors overlooking,
the street or other public areas. Whilst offering some innovative design opportunities in new
developments, the Policy also states that details, materials and finishes should complement the local
characteristics.

The NPPF places an importance on the planning system to deliver a mix of housing, both market and
affordable, particularly in terms of tenure and price, to support a wide variety of households in all
areas and the provision of a sufficient quantity of housing taking into account need and demand and
seeking to improve choice. Making efficient and sustainable use of land is still an over-arching
planning requirement; and, it is recognised that the form and density of a site’s surroundings are
material considerations.

Paragraph 49 of the NPPF makes it explicitly clear that "housing applications should be considered in
the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development”. In this particular case, the site
is located within the established Town Policy Limits and can access all the Town's amenities and
services in a sustainable manner, including making use of the public transport links. Whilst
inappropriate forms of "garden grabbing" should be resisted, where they cause harm, officers submit
that this is not the case here. The development does not involve erecting houses on garden ground.
The orchard is considered to be a distinct planning unit separate from the recognised local domestic
curtilages. Local residents and The Friends of Woolley have made robust arguments about the
importance of the orchard in terms of its ecological and environmental status as well as producing
extensive ranges of fruit. The fact that the orchard is in private ownership should not be forgotten.
The proposed scheme, suitably conditioned and legally bound, would secure a more resilient future
for the orchard; and should it come to pass, The Friends of Woolley might well be the ideal candidates
of being the, or be part of the private management company to secure the future of this part of
Woolley.

The proposed demolition of the Hill Leigh property does not raise any Policy objection. Whilst local
opposition to the demolition of a habitable dwelling is recognised, the house has no architectural or
historic merit to warrant a refusal. The house is not located within the Conservation Area and as such
Conservation Area Consent is not required. The visual loss of the house in the street scene and its
impact would be counter balanced by the positives gained by opening up the orchard to public views
and enhancing the heritage asset.

West Wiltshire District Plan Policy C31a states that all new development, residential or otherwise, is
required to respect or enhance the townscape features and views, existing patterns of movement,
activity and permeability and historic layout and spatial characteristics. Policy C38 further states that
new development will not be permitted if neighbouring amenities and privacy values are significantly
detrimentally affected. These aspects are covered in detail later in this report.

The Plan for Woolley has been referenced by local residents and Friends of Woolley to support their
opposition against this application. Whilst the Plan does not identify the site for residential
development purposes, and clearly identifies what Woolley residents recognise as being important
within their local community; it must be recorded that The Plan for Woolley has not been adopted by
Wiltshire Council, although it has been endorsed by Bradford on Avon Town Council.

Whenever there is an overwhelming local objection to a development, comprising substantial
objections from local residents and groups like The Friends of Woolley, the Town Council, the MP,
and the Unitary Ward Member it must be recognised as a material planning consideration. The
concerns and objections raised against the principle of developing in the orchard have been fully
considered and been subject to much discussion. Members are advised that officers, including the
Council’'s Highways Authority and the Spatial Planning team, the Council's arborist, the Principle
Ecologist and Conservation officer all submit that this small-scale residential development would be
acceptable in principle and would not conflict with established Policy.

It has previously been argued that building on plot 5 would compromise existing covenants. In
addition, legal rights of access and obstructing the footpath have been raised as grounds to object to
this application. In both cases, such matters are not for the planning authority to get involved in as
they falls outside the scope of planning. These are civil, legal matters that cannot and should not
influence the determination of this application.

Page 36



Does the scheme preserve or enhance the character of the Conservation Area?

Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 puts a statutory duty
on Local Planning Authorities, to pay special attention to the "desirability of preserving or enhancing
the character or appearance of that area".

The West Wiltshire District Plan Policy C17 states that the special character or appearance of the
designated Conservation Areas and their setting should be preserved and enhanced.

Policy C18 states that proposals for new development in a Conservation Area will be permitted only if
the following criteria are met.

a. The development will preserve or enhance the character of the Conservation Area;

b. The plot layout, scale, form and detailed designs are characteristic of the area;

c. Historically important boundaries and street patterns, trees, walls, railings and other means of
enclosure which contribute to the area's character are retained;

d. Open spaces and views into, out of and within the area, which are important to its character are
protected;

e. Materials and colours which blend with their setting are used. Traditional local materials will be
expected, except in locations away from public view.

This Policy is consistent with the recently published National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).

The orchard site is identified in the Bradford on Avon Conservation Area Character Assessment as a
'significant private enclosed space’, but its significance in heritage terms is considered to be low as it
does not visually or significantly contribute to the special character and appearance of the
Conservation Area. Although there is strong local opposition to this development, the scheme
nevertheless offers an opportunity to bring this hidden site into the public view and improve the
presence of the orchard within the Conservation Area; and by doing so, its status will be enhanced.

The proposed density is low and there would be a substantial amount of open space left within the
site. The trees on the north and western boundaries are protected and would be retained. It is also
fully recognised that the orchard would be enhanced through retention of the majority of fruit trees as
well as planting 12 replacements to provide an overall net gain of 6 trees within the orchard. In
conservation terms, the use and appearance of the site as an orchard would be enhanced. The tree
works and repairs to historic boundaries fully accord with Policy C18 of the West Wiltshire District
Plan 1st Alteration.

Whilst the NPPF revoked a series of previously relevant national planning policy statements, the key
thrust of PPS5 is enshrined within the NPPF document and local planning authorities are still required
to take into account the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets,
and of utilising their positive role in place-shaping. This site is not a publicly accessible orchard. It is
in private ownership and most of the orchard is screened from public view. Whilst it is accepted that
the proposed housing development will inevitably reduce the size of the orchard space, it should not
be ignored that Government policy still encourages local planning authorities to treat applications
favourably where they better reveal the significance of the asset.

The path which connects the allotments with Woolley Street is not a public right of way, although it is
recognised that the path is well used. There is also no denying that some roofscapes and parts of
elevations forming part of proposed development would be visible from Coronation Avenue, Woolley
Street and the allotments as well as from existing domestic properties; and, although the dwellings
may very well be higher than the existing two storey properties found locally (due in part to the higher
ground level), the development would not be significantly conspicuous, since the development would
be located behind existing dwellings, well established (and protected) trees, plot boundaries and
hedgerows.

There is no doubting the fact that the pattern of development along Coronation Street consists of
dwellings fronting the public highway with front (although limited) and rear gardens. Although, this
proposed development would not reflect this, the layout the three building blocks sited around the

Page 37



south eastern and south western boundary of the orchard site, would be a sympathetic form of
development. There can be no in principle objection to appropriate forms of backland development.
In and around Woolley there are examples of residential buildings that do not front a public highway.
The quirky and in some cases, organic way Woolley has developed creates the very unique character
and appearance which has special protection. This site has not been an easy one to plan a
development for or indeed assess, since it would result in a significant change of character. The
crucial point to stress however is that this development scheme is considered appropriate.

The traditional design and form of the proposed buildings would add some variety, but at the same
time respect the character of the Conservation Area. The proposed location and scale of the buildings
would retain the feeling of space within the area which is so characteristic of the site at present. The
fenestration is traditional and does not appear to be overly repetitive. Consequently, the layout, scale,
form and detailed designs are in accordance with criterion B of Policy C18 of the District Plan.

The scheme satisfies the NPPF in terms of making a positive contribution to the character and local
distinctiveness of the historic environment. The previous scheme in 2010 lacked adequate chimney
details. Chimneys have now been proposed which adds to the traditional character.

The proposed entrance in place of Hill Leigh would have a beneficial impact on the views into and out
of the Conservation Area. Following the removal of Hill Leigh, there would be a direct view from
Coronation Road into the Conservation Area and the orchard. This would be a significant
improvement to the setting of this part of the Conservation Area and would raise the significance of
the orchard to that of a very important open space within the public realm of the Conservation Area
and result in an improvement to the setting of the Conservation Area. This is in accordance with
Policy C17 and criterion D of Policy C18 of the District Plan.

Planning conditions are necessary to ensure the materials used are appropriate. In addition, officers
submit that it would be necessary to remove permitted development rights for further garden
buildings, boundary treatments and domestic extensions in order to preserve the special character
and appearance of the Conservation Area.

Does the proposal detrimentally affect road safety interests?

The Council’s Highway Authority reports no objections subject to planning conditions being attached
to any grant of planning permission.

It is recorded that following third party queries regarding the location of the speed strips along
Coronation Avenue, the Council's Highway Authority collected their own data through undertaking an
independent Traffic survey of Coronation Avenue and the results are that 85% of the vehicles did not
travel at a speed greater than 19 mph. Such data aligns with the figures of the applicants submitted
traffic survey.

The Council's Highway Authority are satisfied with the submitted traffic speed data and after
conducting its own readings, the data taken by the applicant's was ratified. Furthermore, the Council's
Highway Authority concluded based on evidential data that the sight lines illustrated on Drawing No.
CA/P/010 is acceptable subject to a condition being attached to any planning permission granted.

Does the proposal detrimentally affect protected trees and wider landscape considerations?

The Council’s Tree and Landscape officer fully supports this application, subject to conditions. The
Council's arborist fully supports the principle of binding a private management company to a clearly
and legally defined s.106 in order to properly manage the area with consistency and expertise.

The open character of the orchard is something officers have long sought to retain; and it has taken
several attempts by the applicants to produce a scheme which makes this possible. The proposed
landscaping scheme is achievable and the proposed division of the site to provide separate plots and
gardens is acceptable. However, sample details of the boundary treatments and landscape surfacing
materials should be subject to a specific planning condition.

Page 38



The proposed parking would be located within the entrance to the site and adjacent to the dwellings.
A small number of spaces would project from the turning area into the orchard, however providing a
high quality boundary detail is used and subject to a suitable surfacing material, these small
encroachments would not result in harm to the openness of the orchard part of the site.

Further to the additional comments provided by the Friend of Woolley and comments made by the
specialist on their behalf, the pruning needs of this group of trees must be taken into account, which
will enable the production of a healthy crop of fruit. In addition, the comments made are not generally
specific to this site, but instead make general broadbrush statements which are not necessarily
specific to this site or proposal.

Light shading

The proposed buildings will have a limited impact on the group of trees as a whole. One building (the
two storey house on plot 3) would only likely have a minimal impact on one tree (T29) from mid
morning until just after midday. The garage block is single storey and runs north/south and will have
little to no impact on the group of trees.

Wind sheltering

These trees have for many years been sheltered from the effects of winds from the south and west by
the large protected group of trees to the west and the Leylandii hedge to the south. The development
of this site will provide the fruit trees with more access to the elements without being over exposed,
with more than adequate air circulationm and exposure to winds.

Nutrients

There is more than adequate space around this group of trees for water to permeate down to the tree
roots. Where there is likely to be conflict on the perimeter of any Root Protection Area (RPA), the
Arboricultural Method Statement has addressed this, in the form of a no dig specification and the use
of a Cell Web system, which helps prevent compaction and allow water to permeate down to the tree
roots.

There is no reason why soakaways or two cannot be used outside of the RPA that will provide the
trees with an additional sauce of water/nutrients

Does the proposal detrimentally affect protected species or their habitats?

After extensive discussions, reviewing surveys and negotiations, the Council’s Principal Ecologist is
fully satisfied that the proposed development would not demonstrably harm ecological and
biodiversity interests. Robust ecological assessments have been undertaken which have the support
of the Council’s Ecologist. In order to protect the integrity of the orchard and the BAP habitat,
planning conditions are necessary in terms of phasing the development, requiring the development to
proceed in strict accordance with the Ecological Impact Assessment, including enhancement
measures as well as imposing an ecological watching brief.

The Council’s Principal Ecologist advises that the development would only result in the loss of a small
area of bat feeding ground which would not likely detrimentally affect bat habitat or populations. After
visiting the site, the Council's Ecologist confirmed that the orchard/swimming pool is not suitable for
great crested newts. No reptiles were found following a survey, and whilst reptiles may visit the site
(probably from surrounding habitats), the orchard habitat is relatively poor, hence the results of the
Ecosulis’ survey, and no badger presence was confirmed.

The six mature/over mature trees to be felled is not objectionable in ecological terms as they do not
support significant bryophyte or lichen communities. The loss of the six trees would be compensated
for through planting 12 new trees; and an entity, the orchard would have a net gain through growing
traditional Wiltshire varieties, increasing the number of trees within the orchard (from 20 to 26), as
well as adding some diversity to the age structure.

The long term management of the orchard is critical and it is submitted that if this application is to be
approved, the applicant should enter into a legal agreement to legally bind any private management
company in terms of its on-site functions, responsibilities and management in perpetuity.

Page 39



Following a public representation received in early August (2012), another detailed badger survey of
the development site and adjacent land was undertaken by a suitably experienced ecologist during
dry conditions. The aim of this survey was to record any evidence of badger activity within the
development site and to confirm the presence and location of any badger setts and to determine their
current likely status.

All areas of suitable habitat within the survey area, (including scrub, grassland, orchard and boundary
trees, shrubs and walls), were searched for characteristic signs of badgers. Despite a thorough and
careful search of all areas (including within areas of dense bramble and rose scrub), no evidence of
badger was found within the development site.

No badger setts were found within the development site. No badger setts were observed on land to
the north within the adjacent small orchard despite a number of good viewpoints through the fence.
The surveyor visited the allotment site to the west and no badger setts were evident within 30m of the
boundary.

No conclusive evidence of badger was found within the development site, including latrines, scratch
marks, foraging signs, hairs or ‘push-ups’ under fences. Although a single ‘push-up’ was found under
the northern boundary fence (see Figure 1), this was only approximately 15cm high and thought more
likely to be associated with cat than badger. Several paths were recorded criss-crossing the site. At
least one of these paths is suspected to be made by human whilst the other narrow paths could have
been made by a number of mammals, including cat, rabbit or dog. No definitive evidence of badger
was associated with these paths.

The hole mentioned by the local resident in her recent representation alleging potential badger
presence, was observed approximately 2m north of the boundary fence and was viewed with
binoculars. Numerous white-tailed or buff-tailed bumblebees were observed flying in and out of the
hole, indicating its likely use as a bee nest. The entrance to the hole was estimated to be
approximately 20cm x 25 cm. No significant spoil mound was associated with the hole. No paths were
evident extending from the hole. There was no ‘push-up’ or path leading from the development site to
the hole. The survey evidence demonstrates that the hole is not a badger sett.

Does the proposal detrimentally affect neighbouring amenities and privacy?

Whilst third parties have raised objections against the development on loss of outlook from existing
properties, it is not a material planning consideration. The loss of a view over land not owned by an
individual is not considered reasonable grounds to refuse an application. In planning terms, there is
no right to a view. The relevant question to ask is: would the development cause detriment to existing
amenities and privacies?

Along with adopted District Plan Policy C31a, Paragraph 56 of the NPPF outlines the fact that "the
Government attaches great importance to the design of the built environment. Good design is a key
aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively
to making places better for people”. In this particular case the scale, form and height of the proposed
development has been carefully considered in terms of its impact in the street scene and its
relationship with neighbouring properties.

The proposed separation of the new housing and existing neighbouring properties is acceptable.
Within an urban environment, having neighbouring properties behind any given plot should not be
grounds for refusal in itself. After all, there can be no in principle objection to backland development
where the scale, form and density is considered acceptable. Window to window relationships are
acceptable and with appropriate planning conditions covering obscure glazing and preventing
additional wall openings, residential amenities should be adequately protected from inappropriate
overlooking or loss of privacy.

In this particular case, the proposed development would result in changing the existing character and
no doubt alter the amenities enjoyed at present by occupiers living along Coronation Avenue and
Woolley Street. As reported above, following the removal of Hill leigh and the hedgerow, which
separates the orchard from the privately owned footpath, the site would be substantially opened up;

Page



and elements of the new buildings would be visible within the surrounding urban environment.
Officers submit that the development would not demonstrably cause significant detriment to
neighbouring amenity. Views across the site from private land or the allotments will be interrupted and
the character of the area will be changed. This application does not propose the development of the
whole orchard. Much of the green space and trees will be retained. It is not considered
overdevelopment and the proposed seven house development could be built without causing
significant harm. Specific planning conditions are necessary to define the terms of any permission as
well as removing PD rights for any future extensions, additions, outbuildings or other means of
enclosure to safeguard future residential amenity and privacy values.

Legal Agreement / Developer Contributions / Legal Ties

The Council's Education Team report that as a result of considerable pressure in Bradford on Avon
financial contributions should be sought for windfall residential developments within the Town to cover
the costs of providing additional primary and secondary school places. It is understood that the
education team remain concerned that following on from representations to the Core Strategy, there
is predicted growth of Bradford-on-Avon to the east and therefore they have started anticipating the
school places that this will generate.

Adopted District Plan Policy S1 and the Education Services own 'Policy for Requesting Section 106
Contributions for Education Infrastructure' state that where reasonable and appropriate, education
infrastructure contributions shall be sought from developers in accordance with the requirements of
the Local Education Authority. The designated area schools: Christ Church Primary and St Laurence
Secondary schools are full and forecast to remain so. If this housing development is to be approved, it
is essential that the Council secures full contributions on this application of 2 x primary places at the
current cost multiplier of £12,713 each and 1 secondary place at £19,155 (to be index linked). This
£44 581 index linked sum of money would contribute towards the expansion of the aforementioned
schools together with Council funds to meet the demographic pressures. It should be duly noted that
the multipliers would remain valid on a S106 agreement signed up until 31 March 2013.

In addition to the abovementioned contributions which have been accepted as being necessary by the
applicant, the s.106 should also legally define the model articles of the required private management
company as well as it terms and responsibilities in order to secure and implement all future on-site
ecological, arboricultual and landscape management directives for the lifetime of the development
hereby approved. Consideration was given to imposing specific planning conditions, but the precision
which is required necessitates a legally defined planning obligation.

Conclusion

The essential character of this site within the Conservation Area, one of a private open green space
and a transition between the built up area of Bradford on Avon and the countryside, would be
enhanced as the proposed built form would be entirely along the eastern and southern boundaries of
the site and the whole site would be brought into the public realm. The site would remain as an urban-
rural transition site but its significance would be significantly enhanced and it would be included within
the street scene. The raised significance of the heritage asset is a clear benefit to the public through
enhanced access to and views of the asset.

After extensive negotiations, discussions and submission of supporting documentation, this proposal
has the full support of planning officers, the Council's Conservation officer, Tree and Landscape
officer, Principal Ecological and Highways Authority. Through robust planning conditions and a s.106
Legal Agreement, the proposed development would be properly controlled to ensure it reflects and
respects the importance of its surroundings.

Although the substantial weight of local opposition is duly noted, officers do not agree that there is
sufficient material planning grounds to warrant a refusal decision. The proposal would bring an area
that is overgrown and neglected into public view and proper management, enhancing the
conservation area and providing biodiversity gains.

Recommendation:

Page 41



To delegate authority to the Director of Development to grant
planning permission subject to a legal agreement to secure the
following:

i) a financial contribution towards the provision of 2 x
primary places calculated at the 2012/13 cost multiplier of £12,713
each and 1 secondary place at £19,155 totalling £44,581 which
would be index linked and valid on any $106 signed by 31.03.13);
and,

ii) to define the responsibilities of a private management
company and its successor(s) and to secure in perpetuity the future
on site ecological and landscape management and protection of the
site.

For the following reason(s):

This proposed application would be an appropriate form of development within the
Conservation Area and through negotiations, the revised scheme overcomes previous
grounds for refusal; and any additional concerns can be overcome by planning conditions.

Subiject to the following condition(s):

1

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the
date of this permission.

REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

No development shall commence on site until the property known as Hill Leigh has been
permanently demolished and all of the demolition materials and debris resulting there from has
been removed from the site.

REASON: In the interests of the character and appearance of the area [and neighbouring
amenities].

POLICY: West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration 2004 - Policies C17, C18, C31a, C38.and
the NPPF.

No development shall commence on site until details of the proposed ground floor slab levels
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved levels details.

REASON: In the interests of visual amenity.
POLICY: West Wiltshire District Plan - 1st Alteration 2004 Policies C18, C31a and C38.

No development shall commence on site until details and samples of the materials to be used
for the external walls, roofs, boundary treatments and block paviors have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details.

REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and the character and appearance of the area.

POLICY: West Wiltshire District Plan - 1st Alteration 2004 Policies C17, C18, C31a and C38
and The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 1995, or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without

Page 4



10

11

modification, no development falling within Schedule 2, Part 1 Classes A-E of the Order, shall
be carried out without the express planning permission of the Local Planning Authority.

REASON: In order to protect the amenity interests of neighbours and to safeguard the character
of the Conservation Area and to enable the local planning authority to consider individually
whether future additions and alterations should be granted.

POLICY: West Wiltshire District Plan - 1st Alteration policies C18, C31a and C38 and the NPPF.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 1995 (as amended by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (Amendment) (No.2) (England) Order 2008 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting
or amending that Order with or without modification), no windows, doors or other form of
openings other than those shown on the approved plans, shall be formed without a further
planning application being approved for such works.

REASON: In the interests of residential amenity and privacy.
POLICY: West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration 2004 - POLICY: C38

No development shall commence on site until details of the obscure glazing to be used
throughout the scheme for all wc and bathroom windows have been submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The obscure glazing shall be installed as approved
and prior to the first occupation of the development hereby approved and thereafter shall be
maintained in accordance with the approved details.

REASON: In the interests of residential amenity and privacy.
POLICY: West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration 2004 Policy C38.

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be first occupied until the access, turning
area and parking spaces have been completed in accordance with the details shown on the
approved plans. The areas shall be maintained for those purposes at all times thereafter.

REASON: In the interests of highway safety.

The proposed new access road, including footpaths and turning spaces, shall be constructed so
as to ensure that, before it is occupied, each dwelling has been provided with a properly
consolidated and surfaced footpath and carriageway to at least base course level between the
dwelling and existing highway.

REASON: To ensure that the development is served by an adequate means of access.

No part of the development shall be first brought into use until the visibility splays shown on Plan
Drawing CA/P/010 A have been provided with no obstruction to visibility at or above a height of
600mm above the nearside carriageway level. The visibility splays shall be maintained free of
obstruction at all times thereafter.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety

No development shall commence until full construction details of the internal road layout,
including footway and access details, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority. The development shall be constructed in accordance with the

approved details within 12 months of the occupation of the last dwelling.

REASON: To ensure that the roads are laid out and constructed in a satisfactory manner.

Page 43



12

13

14

15

16

All soft landscaping comprised in the approved details of landscaping (dwg no. CA/P/007) shall
be carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the first occupation of the
building(s) or the completion of the development whichever is the sooner; All shrubs, trees and
hedge planting shall be maintained free from weeds and shall be protected from damage by
vermin and stock. Any trees or plants which, within a period of five years, die, are removed, or
become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with
others of a similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning
authority. All hard landscaping shall also be carried out in accordance with the approved details
prior to the occupation of any part of the development or in accordance with a programme to be
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.

REASON: To ensure a satisfactory landscaped setting for the development and the protection of
existing important landscape features.

The development shall be carried out as specified in the approved Arboricultural Method
Statement (AMS) prepared by Sharples Tree Services and dated 18th November 2011, and
shall be supervised by an arboricultural consultant.

Reason: To prevent trees on site from being damaged during construction works.

A pre-commencement site meeting shall be held and attended by the developer’s arboricultural
consultant, the designated site foreman and a representative from the Local Authority to discuss
details of the proposed work and working procedures prior to any demolition, site clearance and
any development. Subsequently and until the completion of all site works, site visits should be
carried out on a monthly basis by the developer’s arboricultural consultant. A report detailing
the results of site supervision and any necessary remedial works undertaken or required shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any approved
remedial works shall subsequently be carried out under strict supervision by the arboricultural
consultant following that approval.

REASON: In order that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied that the trees to be
retained on-site will not be damaged during the construction works and to ensure that as far as
possible the work is carried out in accordance with current best practice.

The nature conservation mitigation recommendations and measures as detailed in the approved
Ecological Appraisal Report (published by Johns Associates in May 2012) shall be carried out in
full for the lifetime of the development hereby approved, with any amendment requiring the
written approval of the Council before such works take place. In addition, and before works
commence on site, a report documenting a further up-to-date badger survey shall be submitted
and approved by the planning authority. The works will be completed in accordance with the
recommendations in the approved report.

REASON: To mitigate against the loss of existing biodiversity and nature habitats and in order to
enhance the nature conservation of the site.

POLICY: The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

A pre-commencement site meeting shall be held and attended by the developer’s ecology
consultant, the designated site foreman and with the local authority ecologist to discuss details
of the proposed work and working procedures prior to any demolition, site clearance and any
development. Subsequently and until the completion of all site works, site visits should be
carried out on a monthly basis by the developer’s ecology consultant. A report detailing the
results of site supervision and any necessary remedial works undertaken or required shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any approved remedial
works shall subsequently be carried out under strict supervision by the ecology consultant
following that approval.

Page 44



17

18

19

20

21

22

REASON: In order that the Local Planning Authority may be satisfied that the site's nature
conservation and BAP habitat will not be damaged during the construction works and to ensure
that as far as possible the work is carried out in accordance with current best practice.

POLICY: West Wiltshire District Plan - 1st Alteration Policies H1, H24 and the National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF).

Prior to the commencement of works on site, full details of a Nature Conservation and
Management Plan (NCMP), following the framework outlined in the Ecological Appraisal report
(contained within appendix F of Johns Associates publication dated May 2012) shall be
submitted for the written approval of the Council. Thereafter, development shall proceed in full
accordance with the NCMP, with any subsequent amendment requiring the written approval of
the Council before such works take place.

REASON: To mitigate against the loss of existing biodiversity and nature habitats and in order to
enhance the nature conservation of the site.

POLICY: The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

If, during development, any archaeological evidence on the site is found, the developer shall
contact the local planning authority to identify whether any additional archaeological work may
be necessary. In the event that any such unexpected archaeological evidence is identified, the
developer shall cease work on that part of the site and allow access to it by the Local planning
authority, or any archaeologist nominated by the local planning authority, to record any findings.
Construction on that part of the site affected shall not recommence until the LPA have agreed
that the on-site archaeological recording has been completed.

REASON: To ensure that any unexpected archaeological remains are recorded.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 1995 (as amended by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (Amendment) (No.2) (England) Order 2008 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting
or amending that Order with or without modification), the car port(s) hereby permitted shall not
be converted to habitable accommodation.

REASON: To safeguard the amenities and character of the area and in the interest of highway
safety.

West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration 2004 - POLICY: T10

Details of any external lighting shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority before the dwelling houses hereby approved have been brought into use.
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

REASON: In the interests of preventing light pollution and nuisance
POLICY: West Wiltshire District Plan - 1st Alteration policies C35 and C38.

The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the cycle parking facilities and bin
storage facilities as shown on the approved plans have been provided in full and made available
for use. The facilities shall be retained for use in accordance with the approved details at all
times thereafter.

REASON: To ensure that satisfactory facilities for the parking of cycles and bin storage are
provided on site.

No development shall commence on site until an investigation of the history and current
condition of the site to determine the likelihood of the existence of contamination arising from
previous uses has been undertaken and until:

Page 45



23

24

a) The Local Planning Authority has been provided with written confirmation
that, in the opinion of the developer, the site is likely to be free from contamination which may
pose a risk to people, controlled waters or the environment. Details of how this conclusion was
reached shall be included.

b) If, during development, any evidence of historic contamination or likely
contamination is found, the developer shall cease work immediately and contact the Local
Planning Authority to identify what additional site investigation may be necessary.

c) In the event of unexpected contamination being identified, all development on
the site shall cease until such time as an investigation has been carried out and a written report
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority, any remedial works recommended
in that report have been undertaken and written confirmation has been provided to the Local
Planning Authority that such works have been carried out. Construction shall not recommence
until the written agreement of the Local Planning Authority has been given following its receipt of
verification that the approved remediation measures have been carried out.

REASON: To ensure that land contamination can be dealt with adequately prior to the use of
the site hereby approved by the Local Planning Authority.

POLICY: West Wiltshire District Plan — 1st Alteration Policies C37 and C38 and The National
Planning policy Framework (NPPF).

The development hereby approved shall be carried out in full accordance with the Plan Drawing
CA/P/015 which specifies the phasing stages, the location of the build compound (including
where materials shall be stored during the construction period) and the construction site car
parking. No deviation from this plan shall take place without the written approval of the local
authority.

REASON: To secure the programming and phasing of, and an orderly pattern to the
development.

POLICY: West Wiltshire District Plan - 1st Alteration Policies H1, H24, C38 and the National
Planning policy Framework (NPPF)

The development hereby approved shall not commence (including any works of demolition),
until a Construction Method Statement has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the
Local Planning Authority covering the following :

(a) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;

(b) loading and unloading of plant and materials;

(c) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative
displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate;

(d) measures to be adopted and followed to prevent pedestrian conflicts,
especially along the footpath;

(e) wheel washing facilities;

(j] measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction;
(9) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and
construction works; and

(h) measures for the protection of the natural environment.

(i) hours of construction, including deliveries;

Thereafter, the development shall be completed in strict adherence to such details throughout
the construction period as well adhering to the phasing plan as stipulated on plan drawing
CA/P/015. The development shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the
approved construction method statement without the prior written permission of the Local
Planning Authority.

Page 46



25

26

27

REASON: To minimise detrimental effects to the neighbouring amenities, the amenities of the
area in general, detriment to the natural environment through the risks of pollution and dangers
to highway safety, during the construction phase.

POLICY: West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration 2004 Policy C38 and the NPPF.

No development shall commence on site until a scheme for the discharge of surface water from
the site (including surface water from the access/driveway), incorporating sustainable drainage
details, has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
development shall not be first occupied until surface water drainage has been constructed in
accordance with the approved scheme.

REASON: To ensure that the development can be adequately drained.

The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete accordance with
the details shown on the submitted plans:

LOCATION PLAN Drawing No. CA/P/001 received on 30.11.2011

EXISTING SITE PLAN Drawing No. CA/P/002 received on 07.08.2012

PROPOSED SITE PLAN Drawing No. CA/P/003 received on 30.11.2011

PLOTS 1&2 PLANS AND ELEVATIONS Drawing No. CA/P/004 received on 30.11.2011
PLOTS 3&4 PLANS AND ELEVATIONS Drawing No. CA/P/005 received on 30.11.2011
PLOTS 5-7 PLANS AND ELEVATIONS Drawing No. CA/P/006 received on 30.11.2011
PROPOSED LANDSCAPING PLAN Drawing No. CA/P/007 received on 30.11.2011
PROPOSED CONTEXT PLAN Drawing No. CA/P/008 received on 30.11.2011
PROPOSED SITE SECTIONS Drawing No. CA/P/009 received on 30.11.2011
PROPOSED VISIBILITY PLAN Drawing no. CA/P/010Rev A received on 06.02.2012
MANAGEMENT PLAN Drawing No. CA/P/011 received on 30.11.2011

HILL LEIGH EXISTING ROOF PLAN AND ELEVATIONS Drawing No. CA/P/012 received on
30.11.2011

PROPOSED SITE PLAN Drawing No. CA/P/013 received on 30.11.2011

PROPOSED DRAINAGE AND SERVICES LAYOUT Drawing No. CA/P/014 received on
30.11.2011

PROPOSED COMPOUND STORAGE SITE PARKING AND PHASING OF BUILD PLAN
Drawing No. CA/P/015 received on 30.11.2011

EXISTING ORCHARD OUTLINE PLAN Drawing No. CA/P/020 received on 30.11.2011
PROPOSED ORCHARD OUTLINE PLAN Drawing No. CA/P/021 received on 30.11.2011
HOUSING OVERLAY PLAN Drawing No. CA/OV/500 received on 07.08.2012

SITE STORAGE & MATERIAL CORRIDOR PLAN — 1ST BUILD Drawing No. CA/OV/501
received on 06.08.2012

SITE STORAGE & MATERIAL CORRIDOR PLAN — 2nd BUILD Drawing No. CA/OV/502
received on 06.08.2012

SITE STORAGE & MATERIAL CORRIDOR PLAN — 3rd BUILD Drawing No. CA/OV/503
received on 06.08.2012

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans
that have been judged to be acceptable by the local planning authority.

That for the avoidance of any doubt, the dwellinghouses hereby approved shall be constructed
from ashlar stone blocks with an ashlar string course for the walls, timber painted sash and
casement windows with natural stone surrounds, timber doors with natural plain clay tiles for the
roofs with red brick chimneys. Any deviation from these materials shall require the submission
of a separate planning application requiring the express planning permission of the Local
Planning Authority.

REASON: In order to define the terms of this permission and to safeguard the character of the
Conservation Area and to enable the local planning authority to consider individually whether
future alterations should be granted.

POLICY: West Wiltshire District Plan - 1st Alteration policies C18, C31a and C38 and the NPPF.
Page 47



Informative(s):

1 In the interests of protecting the amenities of local residents, the following guidance should be
followed:

Where the site is adjacent to residential or premises, heavy plant, noisy equipment or operations
and deliveries, should not take place outside the hours of;

Monday — Friday 7.30 —18.00
Saturday 8.00 — 13.00.
No noisy activities on Sundays or Bank Holidays.

All plant and equipment should be suitably chosen, sited, operated and serviced so as to
minimise noise, vibration, fumes and dust. Best practical means should be employed to
minimise potential nuisance to neighbouring properties. All plant should be turned off when not
in use.

Pneumatic tools should be fitted with an integral silencer and/or purpose made muffler, which is
maintained in good repair.

In periods of dry weather, dust control measures should be employed including wheel washing
and damping down. Any stockpiles of materials which are likely to give rise to windblown dust,
shall be sheeted, wetted or so located as to minimise any potential nuisance.

Where the site is adjacent to residential or business premises, bonfires should be avoided, and
all waste materials should be removed from site and suitably disposed of. At no time should any
material that is likely to produce dark/black smoke be burnt (eg. Plastics, rubber, treated wood,
bitumen etc)

Radio noise should not be audible at the boundary of the nearest neighbouring property.

Any temporary oil storage tanks should be safely and securely sited so as to prevent pollution in
the events of spills or leakage. It is also strongly recommended that any oil storage tank should
be surrounded by an impervious oil/watertight bund having a capacity of at least 110% of the
tank.

Neighbouring residential premises should be advised of any unavoidable late night or early
morning working which may cause disturbance. Any such works should be notified to the
Environmental Protection Department prior to commencement.

Appendices:

Background Documents
Used in the Preparation of
this Report:

Page 48




Allotment Gardens

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office ©
Crown Copyright Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings Tel:
01225770344 Fax: 01225770314 Development Control West Wiltshire Council Bradley Road Trowbridge Wiltshire BA14 ORD
www.wiltshire.gov.uk

MSA: 100022961

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 50



Agenda ltem 6b

REPORT TO THE WESTERN AREA PLANNING

COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting 22.08.2012

Application Number | W/12/01303/FUL

Site Address Church Farm Winsley Bypass Winsley Wiltshire BA15 2JH

Proposal Partially retrospective application for installation of 104 panel ground
mounted solar array

Applicant Mr & Mrs Bowles

Town/Parish Council | Winsley

Electoral Division Winsley And Westwood | Unitary Member: | Linda Conley

Grid Ref 379741 161156

Type of application | Full Plan

Case Officer Mr Kenny Green 01225 770344 Ext 01225 770251
kenny.green@uwiltshire.gov.uk

Reason for the application being considered by Committee

Clir Rosemary Brown (on behalf of Clir Conley) has requested that this application be called to
Committee to allow for an open and public debate and to consider the appropriate nature of this
development proposal, including its impact on the Green Belt, ecological and archaeological interests.

1.  Purpose of Report

To consider the above application and to recommend that planning permission be granted.
Neighbourhood Responses - None received.

Parish Council Response - No consultation response received to date.

2. Report Summary

The main issues to consider are:

Principle of Development / Sustainable Development Objectives

Impact on Ecological and Archaeological Interests

Impact on the Green Belt / Rural Landscape and Surrounding Countryside
Impact on Neighbours / Third Parties

3.  Site Description

The application site, located at Church Farm is within the Western Wiltshire Green Belt and open
countryside in the Winsley civil parish and amounts to an area of about 470 square metres. The site
is a field that forms part of an agricultural holding centred at Church Farm. The field is relatively flat
and is located to the west of the farm complex, which has in the past, been diversified to include
holiday let accommodation. The field within which the solar array is located is accessed through an
area of land used as a camping and caravanning area. The surrounding field boundaries are formed
by stone walling along with dispersed trees and hedge boundary planting.

The site is identified in the adopted West Wiltshire District Plan as having high archaeological
interest/potential.

Page 51



Apart from the Church Farmhouse, the closest neighbouring residential property is some 180 metres
to the south, separated from the site by agricultural fields, stone walls (which are higher than the solar
array) and treed field boundaries, the Winsley bypass public highway, and residential gardens. There
is @ minor access road to the immediate east of the farm complex and a public right of way footpath
(ref. WINS21/10) sited approximately 310 metres to the north east. In both cases, the solar array is
not significantly visible from the public domain.

4. Relevant Planning History

None relevant to this green field site, however the farm complex has been subject to several
applications which have been approved changing the use of agricultural buildings to holiday let
accommodation.

5. Proposal

Under this application, retrospective planning permission is sought for a renewable energy
development comprising the installation of an array of photovoltaic (PV) solar panels to convert
daylight into electricity. The proposed PV panels would potentially generate 30 kwp of electricity,
which will be fed directly into the local power grid.

The array (or solar farm) consists of 104 ground mounted installation comprising panels measuring
1.64 metres long x 0.9 metres wide with a maximum height of 0.44 metres. The panels are fitted into
black basins set out in 6 rows and angled at 25 degrees, "enclosed" by a simple post and wire fence
that is of a height that does not require planning permission.

To convert the direct current (DC) the panels generate, a string inverter is required to turn the DC into
Alternating Current (AC) which can be fed into the national grid. The required inverter is housed
within a timber enclosure measuring 1.3 m (long) x 0.8 m (wide) x 1.2 m (high).

The finished installation involves no pile driving operations as this form of installation negates the
need for significant ground disturbance apart from stripping away the topsoil and running the
underground cabling (which will in due course grass over). When the installation ceases to be
operational or functionally / financially viable, returning the land to its previous condition should be
relatively straight forward.

The ground mounted system is fairly simple with ballast placed into black basins or boxes with the
solar panel simply attached to it and orientated to maximise solar gain. The underground cabling
works had already been undertaken by the time the application had been received by the Council in
the middle of July; and by the time the site was visited by the case officer ten days after its
submission, the installation was more or less complete (with a fencer on site preparing to add the wire
fencing around the perimeter of the array).

6. Planning Policy

Wiltshire Structure Plan

DP1 - Priorities for Sustainable Development; DP9 - Reuse of Land and Buildings; C1 - Nature
Conservation

C12 - Agriculture; C13 - Land Restoration; RE1- Renewable Energy

West Wiltshire District Plan - 1st Alteration
GB1 - Western Wiltshire Green Belt; C1 - Countryside Protection; C3 - Special Landscape Area; C15
- Archaeological Assessment; C31a - Design; C32 - Landscape; C34 - Renewable Energy;

The Emerging Wiltshire Core Strategy

Strategic Objective 2: Addressing Climate Change

Strategic Objective 5: Protecting and Enhancing the Natural, Historic and Built Environment
Core Policy 42 - Standalone Renewable Energy Installations

Core Policy 50 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity

Core Policy 51 - Landscape

Page 52



Government Guidance
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF - published on 27 March 2012)
The Noise Policy Statement for England (NPSE - published 15 March 2010)

7. Consultations

Winsley Parish Council - No comments received. The clerk to the Parish Council contacted the case
officer in late July to advise that due to holidays being taken, the next parish council meeting would
not be until early September. However, it is understood that they are now seeking to arrange one
before the meeting of the planning committee on August 22nd. Any views received will be reported to
the planning committee on August 22nd.

Council's Climate Change Team - The proposal should be permitted as it will assist in increasing the
amount of renewable energy generating capacity in the County. This would be consistent with local
and national policy drivers.

A condition requiring the decommissioning of the site and the removal of panels and plant should be
included as part of any permission. However, given that the panels may have a life expectancy longer
than the 25 years of the FIT, this should not be time restrictive or include a specific date. Instead, the
condition should be based on the economic viability of the scheme.

Council's Tree and Landscape Officer - The proposed solar array will have a minimal visual impact
on the surrounding countryside. For this reason there is no landscape or arboricultural reason to
refuse the application.

Council Archaeologist - Advice was given to the applicant's agent at the point of submission. The
site is in an area of archaeological interest and, although the known archaeology lies to the north, the
site has potential to include archaeological remains. However, the design and access statement
within the application makes it clear that all ground works associated with the development had taken
place by the time the application was submitted.

This is clearly disappointing, as it runs contrary to the policies in the National Planning Policy
Framework and in addition, it means that there has been no opportunity to assess whether the site did
have significant archaeological remains present. It is appreciated that the ‘scrape’ associated with the
construction may have been more shallow than the previous ploughing, it is nevertheless true that
there is also the potential for damage of archaeological remains by compression within the footprint of
the panels.

However, given that the works have already taken place, further archaeological works would not be
appropriate. However, should the location, size or design of the installation change or should further
ground works be required, the above advice may need to be re-assessed.

Council's Ecologist - No objection raised. The array is sited on agricultural land bordered to the south
by a stone wall. The proposal does not require the removal of any trees or hedgerows. Whilst badgers
are known to be active in the area (records held by the WSBRC) the site does not contain suitable
habitat for a sett. Given the surrounding available habitat, the installation of the array does not result
in a significant loss of badger foraging habitat, so particular fencing measures (i.e. allowing access)
are not required.

The site is located approximately 400 metres north of Winsley Mine SSSI (a component of the Bath &
Bradford on Avon bat SAC, important for its assemblages of hibernating rare species of bat). Solar PV
arrays in the vicinity of a significant roost have the potential to impact upon bat populations where
there is a loss of foraging habitat or an impact to flight lines. However, the application site lacks any
significant vegetation cover that would provide bat foraging/commuting habitat and the plans do not
include any proposed external lighting. Consequently, an impact to the SAC is considered unlikely.

Highways Authority - No highway impacts, therefore no objections raised.

Environment Agency - No objection.

Page 53



Environmental Health - No objections raised.

8.  Publicity

The application was advertised by site notice and neighbour notification. Expiry date: 17 August
2012.

No third party representation has been received to date. If any third parties raise objections before
the committee date, they will be reported to the meeting.

9. Planning Considerations

Principle of Development / Sustainable Development Objectives

The fundamental principle of the planning system is to help achieve sustainable development. Part of
this is to ensure that new development proposals are likely to contribute to this core objective. The
production of renewable sources of energy, on any scale, will inevitably contribute to this objective.
The proposed development at Church Farm is in principle, supported by Structure and District Plan
Policies and adheres with the Emerging Wiltshire Core Strategies and Policies. In addition to the
above, material weight must be afforded to the Government's National Planning Policy Framework
which was published and came into immediate effect on 27 March. This publication outlines the
fundamental and over-arching planning objectives, and it is very clear that the NPPF places
significant emphasis upon delivering sustainable development and promoting, supporting and
securing appropriate renewable energy proposals.

This is all reflected in the local plan policy including DP1 of the Structure Plan which states that great
importance needs to be attached to the concept of sustainable development and support new forms
of development which will enable a more sustainable use of resources.

Further to this, Policy C34 of the West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration (2004) details that
renewable energy proposals will be permitted in appropriate locations having regard to visual impact,
ecological and archaeological issues, subject to ancillary development; amenity issues; and highway
safety and scale and siting.

Energy usage in the UK (like most developed countries) is at its highest during the day time and early
evening. Whilst residential usage is highest in the evening when people are home, commercial and
industrial energy usage is much higher and the energy demand during the day exceeds that at night.
There is typically a peak in demand during the late afternoon/early evening when businesses/factories
are still operating, but some people are starting to arrive home and begin cook dinner and turn on the
heating. Solar farms naturally only generate electricity during daylight hours, and this coincides with
the periods of highest demand for energy in the UK. The UK currently has the 10th highest emissions
of carbon dioxide in the world, but only the 22nd highest population. The largest contributor to carbon
emissions in the UK is the energy generation sector, through burning of fossil fuels, and this makes
up 40% of the UKs carbon dioxide emissions. The next largest sector is transport, which accounts for
26%.

Locally, Wiltshire Council’s adopted strategy sets out a clear commitment to increase the uptake of
renewable energy. Action to tackle climate change through energy efficiency and renewable energy
are strong themes in Wiltshire’s Community Plan. In the last year, the installation of Solar PV has
increased dramatically raising the County’s position from fifth out of six in the South West to second
only to Cornwall. Whilst each planning application must be considered on its own merits, it cannot be
ignored that Wiltshire Council is dedicated to addressing the causes of climate change and should
promote, encourage and support (where appropriate) renewable energy proposals; and in so doing,
help contribute to renewable energy and climate change targets, improving air quality (by not relying
on fossil fuels), stimulate the UK renewable industry and employment and improve fuel security and
prices.

It is fully acknowledged that these justifications are proportionately linked to the scale of development.
Government Policy makes it very clear that renewable applications no matter how small should not
be prejudiced because of their relatively small contributions; since every contribution helps. The

Page 54



NPPF also stresses that sustainable development proposals should go ahead without delay and that
applicants do not have to demonstrate the need for renewable energy developments of any size.
Paragraph 98 of the NPPF further asserts that such applications should be approved if the impacts
are (or can be made through planning conditions and mitigation) acceptable.

It is equally necessary to note that this type of development is, in theory, not permanent; and when
the development comes to an end it would be reasonable to insist on the restoration of the land,
which is recommended by way of a planning condition in this case.

Locally, Wiltshire Council’'s adopted ECO strategy sets out a clear commitment to increase the
uptake of renewable energy. Action to tackle climate change through energy efficiency and
renewable energy are strong themes in Wiltshire’s Community Plan.

Impact on the Green Belt / Rural Landscape and Surrounding Countryside

The application site is located within the defined Western Wiltshire Green Belt. Policy DP12 of the
Wiltshire Structure Plan details that the open character of the green belt should be maintained.

In this particular case, the ground mounted system has a minimal visual impact on the surrounding
countryside. It does not have any adverse impact on the openness of the gren belt and the
countryside due to its very small height and lack of visibility from public rights of way. In these
circumstances, Officers submit that a renewable energy scheme of this nature is appropriate
development within the green belt. In recognising the policy support for appropriately scaled,
designed solar farm installations, the applicant cites the recently approved 5 MW solar farm at
Kingston Farm, located outside of Bradford on Avon and also a smaller solar scheme at Frankleigh
House under W/11/02809/FUL as examples whereby permission has been granted for renewable
energy production, two other sites located within the Western Wiltshire Green Belt.

In theory, the development is temporary. When the development comes to an end, whether it occurs
when the use ceases or becomes obsolete, it is considered reasonable to insist on the restoration of
the land through a planning condition.

The type of surface of the solar panels and the angle in relation to the ground are such that there
would be no identified risk of solar dazzle or glare from reflected sunlight or skylight. Furthermore, the
application proposes panels which are designed to be highly absorbent and have an exceptionally low
reflection compared to conventional domestic or toughened glass. This would ensure that the panels
are no brighter than surrounding materials found in the natural environment. The installed ground
mounted system has solar pv panels a maximum of 0.4 metres above ground level, which is
considered low and certainly much lower than the field stone wall boundaries. It is therefore
considered that the proposed should not result in a loss of amenity by way of glare or dazzle to third
parties or users of the public right of way footpath (which is located to north about 300 metres away
from the application site).

The underground trenching of the associated cabling has already been undertaken (and had been
completed even before the application had been formally submitted). The cable run passes through
the field (in which the array sits), through the field gate entry point, through the camping site and leads
to one of the farm steading buildings. Where the ground has been disturbed, it will not take long for
the ground to grass over again.

Impact on Ecological and Archaeological Interests (Heritage Asset)

As noted above, whilst regretting the fact that this application is retrospective, the Council's ecologist
and archaeologist both report no objection.

On the basis of the above, it is submitted that the proposed development would not result in
demonstrable harm to ecological or archaeological interests.

Page 55



Impact on Neighbours / Third Parties

The development would not be a significant noise generator. The required inverters / switchgear
would be enclosed within modestly scaled timber clad enclosure and there should be no noise audible
beyond the boundary of the site. The solar farm has no moving components and therefore there
would be no vibration impact. The development would have no emissions or waste and it has been
re-affirmed that the proposed PV panels are designed to absorb light for conversion to electricity.
Having highly reflective panels would defeat the whole purpose of a solar farm.

Conclusions

Compared to most solar development currently being brought forward, this is both modest in scale
and small in height. Given the Government and local policy support for renewable energy schemes,
there is no objection to this scheme that has no adverse impact on local amenities or the appearance
of the landscape or its protected Green Belt status.

The fact that the applicant proceeded to complete the works before the application had been
determined, making it retrospective, is to be regretted; but the impacts of the development have been
carefully considered following a robust consultation, which has lead to a positive recommendation.

Recommendation: Permission

For the following reason(s):

This proposal would make a contribution towards Wiltshire’s renewable energy targets, and
the modest scale and low height of the renewable energy installation and the consequent
limited impact on the appearance of the landscape mean that the proposal is acceptable.

Subiject to the following condition(s):

1 Within six months of the solar pv ground mounted system ceasing to be used for the generation
of renewable energy, the solar panels and its associated infrastructure, including the scalpings
and the membrane shall be removed from the site and the land restored to seeded grass
agricultural land, in accordance with paragraph 3.20 of the accompanying Design and Access
and Planning Supporting Statement.

REASON: In order to define the terms of this permission.

POLICY: Wiltshire Structure Plan 2016 Policies C12 and RE1 and West Wiltshire District Plan
1st Alteration (2004) Policies C1 and C34; and the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).

2 The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete accordance with
the details shown on the submitted plans:

LOCATION PLAN received on 11.07.2012
SURVEY SITE PLAN received on 11.07.2012
PROPOSED PHOTOVOLTAIC ARRAY PLAN received on 11.07.2012

REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans
that have been judged to be acceptable by the local planning authority.

Appendices:

Background Documents
Used in the Preparation of
this Report:

Page 56




et

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office ©
Crown Copyright Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings Tel:
01225770344 Fax: 01225770314 Development Control West Wiltshire Council Bradley Road Trowbridge Wiltshire BA14 ORD
www.wiltshire.gov.uk

MSA: 100022961

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 58



Agenda ltem 6¢

REPORT TO THE WESTERN AREA PLANNING

COMMITTEE

Date of Meeting 22.08.2012

Application Number | W/12/01107/FUL

Site Address Jasmin House 115A Hilperton Road Trowbridge Wiltshire BA14 7JJ

Proposal Proposed extension and change of use of existing garage to residential
bungalow

Applicant Mr R Hibbard

Town/Parish Council | Hilperton

Electoral Division Hilperton Unitary Member: | Ernie Clark

Grid Ref 386939 158663

Type of application | Full Plan

Case Officer Mr Kenny Green 01225 770344 Ext 01225 770251
kenny.green@uwiltshire.gov.uk

Reason for the application being considered by Committee

Councillor Clark has requested that if officers are minded to recommend permission, that this item be
determined by Committee so that -

The concerns of the Parish Council and local residents can be considered by the Elected Members.
1.  Purpose of Report

To consider the above application and to recommend that planning permission be granted subject to
conditions.

Neighbourhood Responses - 2 letters of representation received.

Hilperton Parish Council Response - Objects to this application for the reasons cited within section 7
below.

2. Report Summary
The main issues to consider are:

Principle of Development

Impact upon the surrounding area (including impact on nearby Conservation Area)
Relationship to adjoining properties

Environmental/highway impacts

3.  Site Description

The application site forms part of an existing residential property (known as Jasmin House) located
within the defined Town Policy Limits of Trowbridge, but located within the civil parish of Hilperton, in
a predominantly residential area. The site measures about 500 sq.m and is accessed off the
southern side of Hilperton Road. The roadside boundary, including the access point, falls within the
Conservation Area which extends northwards and westwards towards the Town Centre. Aside from
the access drive, the application site is rectangular in shape with four well established trees, including
one large Copper Beech which is covered by TPO.

Page 59



4. Relevant Planning History
97/00524/0OUT - Two dwellings with detached garages and access - Permission 14.08.1997

97/01206/REM - Demolition of existing dwelling "St Helier" and erection of 2 dwellings with detached
garages and access - Approval 12.11.1997 -

Note 1: The above development has been implemented.

Note 2: The following planning history does not fall within the defined application site. H owever,
since the planning history relative to the paddock land located to the NW of the application site has
been highlighted as part of the public consultation and notification exercise, the following planning
history should be noted:

w92/00640/OUT - residential development (limited to four houses) - Permission October 1992
(subject to a legal agreement)

w94/00224/FUL - residential development for four houses - Permission May 1994 - condition 3
specifically excluded permitting any built development on the paddock land and sought to retain it as
amenity open space.

97/01536/FUL - Erection of dwelling on land adjacent to St. Helier - Refused 29.01.1998 - Appeal
dismissed 12.10.1998

98/00254/FUL - Erection of a bungalow (revised scheme) - Refused 06.04.1998 - Appeal Dismissed
12.10.1998

Note 3: Both above referenced appeals were processed by PINS under one appeal decision letter.
5. Proposal

This application seeks permission to extend and convert an existing double garage measuring 39.6
sq.m to form a single-storey 2-bed dwelling with a total floor area of 81 sq.m (the extension amounts
to 42 sq.m). A 2 metre high close boarded fence is proposed along the north-western and southern
boundaries. "Open air" car parking shall be provided for both the new and existing host properties.
The proposed materials would be matching facing brick under a concrete tiled roof.

The garage, which is the subject of this application, was approved as part of the two-house residential
infill development to replace one property (now demolished) known as St. Helier under application
references 97/00524/OUT and 97/01206/REM.

6. Planning Policy

Wiltshire and Swindon Structure Plan 2016
DP1 - Priorities for Sustainable Development; DP2 - Infrastructure; DP7 - Housing in Towns and Main
Settlements; DP9 - Reuse of Land and Buildings; HE7 - Conservation Areas and Listed Buildings.

West Wiltshire District Plan - 1st Alteration

C17 - Conservation Areas; C18 - New Development in Conservation Areas; C31a - Design; C32 -
Landscaping; C35 - Light Pollution; C38 - Nuisance; C40 - Tree Planting; H1 - Further Housing
Development Within Towns; H2 - Affordable Housing Within Towns and Villages; H24 - New Housing
Design; U1a - Foul Water Disposal; U2 - Surface Water Disposal; T10 - Car Parking

Supplementary Planning Guidance
Residential Design Guide (adopted November 2005)

Government Guidance
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

Page 60



7. Consultations

Town/ Parish Council - Objects for the following reasons:

a) The proposal will not be compatible with existing planning permission.
b) The proposal will conflict with the pattern of development in the area.
¢) The proposal will be visually damaging in the landscape and setting.

The Parish Council would also point out that there has been another application for residential use on
this area of land which was refused and which was also turned down on appeal, and there is no
change in the situation.

Highways - The development would not detrimentally affect highway safety and no objection is
therefore raised.

Wessex Water - New water supply and waste water connections shall be required for this
development. No objections raised subject to an informative.

Council's Tree and Landscape Offcier - Verbally advised that the proposed development would not
compromise the health of the protected Copper Beech which is covered by a TPO. If approved, a
planning conditions are required for the submission of tree and root protection measures to protect
the Copper Beech which will require the formal approval of the Council before works commence on
site.

8. Publicity

The application was advertised by site notice and neighbour notifications.

Expiry date: 13.07.2012

Summary of points raised: 2 letters of representation received raising the following objections:

The proposal would result in an overdevelopment and intensification of the plot.

It would likely result in further residential development.

Previous applications to develop in the adjoining paddock were refused. This development
would result in a creeping form of residential development which would result in the loss of the green,
open character of the site.

The development would fundamentally change the character of this entry point to Trowbridge.
The siting, layout and design are not in keeping with the character of the surrounding area. The
proposed structure is in breach of the building line, replacing an ancillary building with a residential
property.

There would be a breach of Council's condition which prevents the erection of any dwelling
closer than 70 metres from the Hilperton Road frontage, so preventing any rupture of the building line.
The size, massing and location of the dwelling would result in a building intruding into the
corridor of open space at the entrance to Trowbridge that would be harmful to the street scene and

would neither preserve or enhance the setting of the adjacent conservation area.

Further development of the site would result in increased vehicle activity with insufficient parking
and add greater vehicle conflicts.

The garage should stay as a garage. It was never planned as a residential site.

The shared access driveway would be enclosed and would suffer loss of light.

There would be a loss of amenity and privacy through increased number of neighbours.

The proposed development would be contrary to the first criterion of Policy H1 of the adopted
local plan.

Whilst recognising that it may not be a valid material planning objection, concern has also been
raised about the repair and maintenance of the shared driveway.

9. Planning Considerations

Principle of Development

Page 61



The recently published NPPF places an importance on the planning system to deliver a mix of
housing, both market and affordable, particularly in terms of tenure and price, to support a wide
variety of households in all areas and the provision of a sufficient quantity of housing taking into
account need and demand and seeking to improve choice. Making efficient and sustainable use of
land is still an over-arching planning requirement; and, it is recognised that the form and density of a
site’s surroundings are material considerations.

Paragraph 49 of the NPPF makes it explicitly clear that "housing applications should be considered in
the context of the presumption in favour of sustainable development". In this particular case, the site
is located within the established Town Policy Limits and can access all the Town's amenities and
services in a sustainable manner, including making use of the public transport links. Whilst
inappropriate forms of "garden grabbing" should be resisted, where they cause harm, officers submit
that this proposal is not considered to be inappropriate. The relatively limited extension to the garage
would not result in overdevelopment and even with the proposed sub-divsion of the existing plot, the
host property would still retain a significant rear garden and no demonstrable harm would be created.

The site is located entirely within the defined Town Policy limits of Trowbridge and under Policy H1 of
the adopted West Wiltshire District Plan, proposals for new housing development in this area may be
permitted provided, inter alia, that the siting, layout and design considerations are satisfactory, and
that they are in keeping with the character of the surrounding area and that providing such
development does not give rise to highway problems or create inappropriate backland or tandem
development.

Policy H24 leads on to state that new housing should face onto, with windows and doors overlooking,
the street or other public areas. Whilst offering some innovative design opportunities in new
developments, the policy also states that details, materials and finishes should complement the local
characteristics.

West Wiltshire District Plan Policy C31a states that all new development, residential or otherwise, is
required to respect or enhance the townscape features and views, existing patterns of movement,
activity and permeability and historic layout and spatial characteristics. Policy C38 further states that
new development will not be permitted if neighbouring amenities and privacy values are significantly
detrimentally affected.

Having researched the planning history, including reviewing dismissed appeal decisions attributed to
the paddock land (located to the north west of the site), it must be fully acknowledged that the
paddock land is in separate ownership and is a completely separate parcel of land with its own
planning history. Back in 1994, the paddock land was specifically identified by the former West
Wiltshire District Council in approving the four-house development under application w94/00224/FUL,
for retention as open amenity space - and a planning condition defined the terms of the permission
accordingly. This restriction has been tested by subsequent applications (as noted above) which the
Council has consistently rejected: with the decisions being upheld on appeal.

However in this particular case, a clear distinction must be made between the application site (which
in part is previously developed land i.e. the garage building) and forms part of an existing residential
curtilage; compared with the paddock land, which is neither previously developed land nor is it part of
residential curtilage. It is also submitted that the character of the two parcels of land are materially
different. Since 1994, the local planning authority has defended the need to retain the paddock land
as open amenity ground. The same restriction has never applied to the garden ground at the front of
Jasmin House. Officers further submit that approving the garage extension/conversion would not
compromise the Council’s consistent approach to refusing residential development on the paddock
land. There should be no precedent concerns since the fundamental tenet that each planning
application deserves to be assessed on its own merits applies.

Impact upon the surrounding area (including impact on nearby Conservation Area)

The proposed design and detailing is acceptable and reflective of the surroundings. The immediate
surroundings and neighbouring properties are characterised by relatively large houses set within large
plots. Although this proposal would break away from this standard, and introduce a smaller property
with a smaller garden, it would not appear discordant in the street scene. The existing garage

Page 62



building is set back about 50 metres from Hilperton Road, and is not highly visible. It is furthermore
recognised that since the extension would respect the garage ridge height (i.e. the new extension
would not project above the existing height), the operational development would be relatively modest
in scale, which is considered acceptable. The developmement would not harm the nearby
Conservation Area.

Relationship to adjoining properties

The proposed development would not demonstrably harm neighbouring amenities or privacy. No
windows are proposed on the north eastern or south western gable elevations and it is recognised
that the separation between the extended building and neighbouring properties is acceptable and that
adequate external amenity ground shall be provided for the future occupants of the proposed new
dwelling. To ensure that future amenities are protected, it is considered necessary to remove
permitted development "PD" rights preventing further additions and wall openings. The concern
raised about the boundary treatment causing a loss of light to the driveway is not a robust enough
reason for refusal. The loss of light concern is disputed since any enclosure facing the shared
driveway would only be on one side and daylight/sunlight would still penetrate the driveway from
above.

It should be noted that the existing property, Jasmin House, benefits from PD rights in terms of having
the ability to convert the existing garage (as it currently exists) to form ancillary habitable
accommodation - although it should be noted that PD rights do not extend to creating a new
residential planning unit. So, the garage cannot be converted to a new house without permission.
However, the owner of the site could undertake some alterations to the garage and erect a 2 metre
high boundary fence or wall (not adjacent to the public highway) without requiring planning
permission.

Environmental/highway impacts

As reported above, the Council's Tree and Landscape officer is satisfied that the proposed
development would not endanger the long term health of the nearby Copper Beech tree which is
protected by way of a TPO. No objection is raised to the removal of one of the four fruit trees located
close to the garage. A planning condition is necessary however requiring the submission of the
requisite tree protection measures and a nod dig specification is required to ensure that the proposed
parking provision does not detrimentally affect the tree's root system.

The Council's Highways Authority report having no objections to the proposed development. It should
be noted that the repair and condition of the shared driveway is really a civil matter which should be
addressed by the individuals concerned.

Wessex Water have confirmed that the site can be adequately serviced with the exact points of
connection to be agreed directly with Wessex Water's Developer Services team.

Conclusion

The proposed development is considered to be an appropriate and acceptable residential windfall,
which would not result in demonstrable harm to the immediate surroundings, neighbouring interests,
trees or conflict with highway safety. The application is therefore recommended for permission, and
subject to several conditions.

Recommendation: Permission

For the following reason(s):
This proposed application would be an appropriate form of development within the defined

Town Policy Limits without causing harm to the surroundings, neighbouring interests, trees or
conflict with highway safety.

Page 63



Subject to the following condition(s):

1

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the
date of this permission.

REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby
permitted shall match in material, colour and texture those used in the existing building.

REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and the character and appearance of the area.
West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration 2004 - POLICY: C31a.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 1995 (as amended by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (Amendment) (No.2) (England) Order 2008 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting
or amending that Order with or without modification), there shall be no additions/extensions or
external alterations to the subject building forming part of the development hereby permitted.

REASON: In the interests of the amenity of the area and to enable the Local Planning Authority
to consider individually whether planning permission should be granted for additions/extensions
or external alterations.

POLICY: West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration 2004 - POLICY: C31a and C38

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 1995 (as amended by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (Amendment) (No.2) (England) Order 2008 (or any Order revoking or re-enacting
or amending that Order with or without modification), no windows, doors or other form of
openings other than those shown on the approved plans, shall be inserted in the development
hereby permitted, without a separate application being submitted and obtaining the formal
approval of the local planning authority.

REASON: In the interests of residential amenity and privacy.
POLICY: West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration 2004 - POLICY: C38

No development shall commence on site until details of the design, external appearance and
decorative finish of the fenced enclosure along the north-western and southern site boundary
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Development
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to the development being
brought into use.

REASON: In the interests of visual amenity and the character and appearance of the area.
POLICY: West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration 2004 - POLICY: C31a and C32

No development shall commence on site until details have been submitted for the written
approval of the Council showing the means by which the tree on the site which is protected by a
Tree Preservation Order shall be enclosed by protective fencing, in accordance with British
Standard 5837 (2005): Trees in Relation to Construction. Before any fence is erected, the exact
specifications and position must be approved the Local Planning Authority and after it has been
erected, it shall be maintained for the duration of the works and no vehicle, plant, temporary
building or materials, including raising and or, lowering of ground levels, shall be allowed within
the protected areas(s).

REASON: To enable the Local Planning Authority to ensure the protection of the Copper Beech
tree on the site in the interests of visual amenity.

Page 64



POLICY: West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration 2004 - POLICY: C32

No development shall commence until a full No-Dig specification for works within the root
protection area/canopies of the protected and retained Copper Beech tree has been submitted
and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. The construction of the surface shall
be carried out in accordance with approved details and thereafter retained.

REASON: In order to protect the TPO'd Copper Beech tree on the site with surfacing placed
near to or over the trees root system.

No part of the development hereby permitted shall bebrought into use until the turning area and
parking spaces as shown on the submitted floor plan layout plan have been completed in
accordance with the details shown on the approved plans. The areas shall be maintained for
those purposes at all times thereafter.

REASON: In orderr to define the terms of this permission and in the interests of highway safety.
POLICY: West Wiltshire District Plan 1st Alteration 2004 - POLICY: C31a and T10.

The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in complete accordance with
the details shown on the submitted plans:

EXISTING PLAN AND SOUTH EAST ELEVATION received on 07.06.2012
PROPOSED PLAN AND SOUTH EAST ELEVATION received on 07.06.2012
PROPOSED ELEVATIONS AND SITE PLAN received on 07.06.2012

REASON: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved plans
that have been judged to be acceptable by the local planning authority.

Informative(s):

1 The developer/applicant is advised to make contact with Wessex Wtaer to agree connections to
the public water supply and waste water system.
Appendices:

Background Documents
Used in the Preparation of
this Report:

Page 65




This page is intentionally left blank

Page 66



— lrEma

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with the permission of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office ©
Crown Copyright Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings Tel:
01225770344 Fax: 01225770314 Development Control West Wiltshire Council Bradley Road Trowbridge Wiltshire BA14 ORD
www.wiltshire.gov.uk

MSA: 100022961

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 68



	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	6 Planning Applications
	6a W/11/03178/FUL - Land Rear Of 69  Woolley Street, Bradford On Avon, Wiltshire
	W1103178FUL - Map 1

	6b W/12/01303/FUL - Church Farm,  Winsley Bypass,  Winsley,  Wiltshire,  BA15 2JH
	W1201303FUL - Map 2

	6c W/12/01107/FUL - Jasmin House,  115A Hilperton Road,  Trowbridge,  Wiltshire,  BA14 7JJ
	W1201107FUL - Map 3


